© Copyright by Najmeh Forouzandehmehr, 2013 All Rights Reserved

# Game Theoretical Framework for Distributed Dynamic Control in Smart Grids

A Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Department of the Electrical and Computer Engineering University of Houston

> In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

> > by Najmeh Forouzandehmehr December 2013

# Game Theoretical Framework for Distributed Dynamic

# Control in Smart Grids

Najmeh Forouzandehmehr

Approved:

Dr. Zhu Han, Associate Professor Electrical and Computer Engineering

Committee Members:

Dr. Haluk Ogmen, Professor Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. Hamed Mohsenian-Rad, Assistant Professor Electrical and Computer Engineering University of California at Riverside, CA

Dr. Amin Khodaei, Assistant Professor Electrical and Computer Engineering University of Denver, CO

Dr. Wei-Chuan Shih, Assistant Professor Electrical and Computer Engineering

Dr. Suresh K. Khator, Associate Dean Cullen College of Engineering

Dr. Badrinath Roysam, Professor and Chairman, Electrical and Computer Engineering To Parvin Bakhtiarpour & Mohammad Reza Forouzandehmehr with all my love

# Acknowledgements

The work presented in this dissertation would not have been possible without a number of people who have guided and supported me throughout the research process and provided assistance for my venture.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Zhu Han, for his excellent guidance, caring, patience, and providing me with an excellent atmosphere for doing research. He patiently provided the vision and encouragement necessary for me to proceed through the doctoral program and complete my dissertation. His profound knowledge and scientific curiosity have set high standards and are a constant source of inspiration and his advice, both scholarly and non-academic, leave me greatly indebted. I would like to thank Dr. Rong Zheng, Dr. Hamed Mohsenian-rad, Dr. Samir Perlaza, and Dr. Vincent Poor for their invaluable comments and suggestions they made in reference to Chapter 3, Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 of this work. I would also like to thank the rest of my dissertation committee, Dr. Haluk Ogmen, Dr. Amin Khodaei, and Dr. Wei-Chuan Shih for their support, guidance and helpful suggestions.

I have benefited greatly from the generosity and support of many faculty members and numerous friends at University of Houston. My appreciation goes to my colleagues Yi Huang, Nam Nguyen, Mohammad Esmalifalak, Lanchao Liu, Ali Arab, and Yanrun Zhang, who have provided me the perfect working environment.

I would not have contemplated this road if not for my parents, Parvin Bakhtiarpour and Mohammad Reza Forouzandehmehr, who raised me with love and supported me in all my pursuits. Their love was my inspiration and driving force. My sister, Sara and my brother, Amin, who cherished with me every great moment and provided me the emotional support. To them, I am eternally grateful.

# Game Theoretical Framework for Distributed Dynamic Control in Smart Grids

An Abstract of a Dissertation Presented to the Faculty of the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

University of Houston

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering

by

Najmeh Forouzandehmehr December 2013

# Abstract

In the emerging smart grids, production increasingly relies on a greater number of decentralized generation sites based on renewable energy sources. The variable nature of the new renewable energy sources will require a certain form of distributed energy storage, such as batteries, flywheels, compressed air and so on to help maintain supply security. Moreover, integration of demand response programs in conjunction with distrusted generation makes an economic and environmental advantage by altering end-users' normal consumption patterns in response to changes in the electricity price. These new techniques change the way we consume and produce energy also enable the possibility to reduce the greenhouse effect and improve grid stability by optimizing energy streams. In order to accommodate these technologies, solid mathematical tools are essential to ensure robust operation of heterogeneous and distributed nature of smart grids. In this context, game theory could constitute a robust framework that can address relevant and timely open problems in the emerging smart grid networks. In this dissertation, three dynamic game-theoretical approaches are proposed for distributed control of generation and storage units and demand response applications in smart grid networks.

We first study the competitive interactions between an autonomous pumpedstorage hydropower plant and a thermal power plant in order to optimize power generation and storage. Each type of power plant individually tries to maximize its own profit by adjusting its strategy: both types of plants can sell their power to the market; or alternatively, the thermal-power plant can sell its power at a fixed price to the pumped-storage hydropower plant by storing the energy in the reservoir. A stochastic differential game is formulated to characterize this competition. The solutions are derived using the stochastic Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations. Based on the effect of real-time pricing on users' daily demand profile, the simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and show how we can optimize consumers' electricity cost in presence of time-varying prices. Second, we focus on controllable load types in energy-smart buildings that are associated with dynamic systems. In this regard, we propose a new demand response model based on a two-level differential game framework. At the beginning of each demand response interval, the price is decided by the upper level (aggregator, utility, or market) given the total demand of lower level users. Given the price from the upper level, the electricity usage of air conditioning unit and the battery storage charging/discharging schedules are controlled for each player (buildings that are equipped with automated load control systems and local renewable generators), in order to minimize the user's total electricity cost. The optimal user strategies are derived, and we also show that the proposed game can converge to a feedback Nash equilibrium.

Finally, the problem of distributed control of the heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) system for multiple zones in an energy-smart building is addressed. This analysis is based on the idea of satisfaction equilibrium, where the players are exclusively interested in the satisfaction of their individual constraints instead of individual performance optimization. This configuration enables a HVAC unit as a player to make stochastically stable decisions with limited information from the rest of players. To achieve satisfaction equilibrium, a learning dynamics based on trialand-error learning is proposed. In particular, it is shown that this algorithm reaches stochastically stable states that are equilibria and maximizers of the global welfare of the corresponding game.

# Table of Contents

Acknow	wledge	ements	vi
Abstra	ict		viii
Table of Contents			
List of	Figur	$\mathbf{es}$	xiii
List of	<b>Table</b>	s	xv
Chapte	er 1 I	Introduction and Background	1
1.1	Overv	iew	1
1.2	Green	Smart Grids	4
1.3	Smart	Buildings	6
1.4	Motiv	ations and Thesis Contribution	8
1.5	Thesis	s Organization	10
Chapte	er 2 (	Game Theory Preliminaries	12
2.1	Overv	riew of Differential Games	12
	2.1.1	Optimal Control Problem	13
	2.1.2	Differential Games	13
	2.1.3	Stochastic Differential Games	16
2.2	Overv	riew of Satisfaction Games	19
	2.2.1	Efficient Satisfaction Equilibrium	20
	2.2.2	Modeling Drop-ins and Drop-outs	21

Chapt	er 3 Stochastic Dynamic Hydrothermal Scheduling in a Smart	
	Grid network	23
3.1	Introduction	23
3.2	System Model and Game Formulation	25
	3.2.1 Dynamic Model	27
	3.2.2 Market Price Model	29
	3.2.3 Control for Hydro Plant	30
	3.2.4 Control for Thermal Plant	31
	3.2.5 Standard Form Notation	32
3.3	Game Analysis and Performance	33
	3.3.1 Pumped-Storage Player Payoff Maximization	33
	3.3.2 Thermal Player Payoff Maximization	35
	3.3.3 Nash Equilibrium	37
3.4	Simulation Results	39
3.5	Summary	43
hapt	er 4 Distributed Dynamic Control for Smart Buildings	45
4.1	Introduction	45
4.2	System Model	47
	4.2.1 Smart Building Consumers	48
4.3	Differential Game Analysis	51
	4.3.1 Game Formulation	51
	4.3.2 Solution Based on Dynamic Programming	56
	4.3.3 Properties and Discussion	60
4.4	Simulation Results	62
4.5	Summary	66

Chapte	er 5 Distributed Control of HVAC Systems in Smart Buildings	71
5.1	Introduction	71
5.2	System Model	72
5.3	Game Formulation	75
	5.3.1 Game in Normal Form	75
	5.3.2 Game in Satisfaction Form	76
5.4	The distributed learning algorithm	77
	5.4.1 Trial and Error Learning Algorithm	77
	5.4.2 Properties	78
	5.4.3 Online Scheduling	80
5.5	Simulation Results	82
5.6	Summary	85
Chapte	er 6 Conclusion and Future Work	86
6.1	Conclusion	86
6.2	Future Work	88
Bibliog	graphy	90

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Smart grid concept $[10]$	2
Figure 1.2	Features of a green grid [16].	5
Figure 1.3	A building energy management system[23]	8
Figure 3.1	System and game model	27
Figure 3.2	Daily demand $D(t)$ versus market price based on data from [57].	39
Figure 3.3	Comparison of the output power versus K	40
Figure 3.4	Reservoir volume and discharge rate	41
Figure 3.5	Comparison of payoff versus K	42
Figure 3.6	Comparison of output power peak to average ratio versus K	43
Figure 3.7	Power output versus mean of incoming water to the reservoir.	44
Figure 3.8	1-Two plants are not networked, 2-Two plants are networked	44
Figure 4.1	The interactions between the aggergator and individual buildings.	49
Figure 4.2	The fourteen bus system studied in simulations	63
Figure 4.3	Daily price for two pricing scenarios.	64
Figure 4.4	Optional caption for list of figures	67
Figure 4.5	Optional caption for list of figures	68
Figure 4.6	Total daily load at Bus 2	69
Figure 4.7	Comparison of load PAR for two pricing scenarios	69
Figure 4.8	Daily cost vs. outdoor temperature for two pricing scenarios	70
Figure 4.9	Impact of buildings power consumption on price	70
Figure 5.1	The occupancy schedule of building zones	81
Figure 5.2	Optional caption for list of figures	82
Figure 5.3	Payoff versus the number of iterations.	83

Figure 5.4	Satisfaction game convergence versus the exploration rate	84
Figure 5.5	The payoff versus the average indoor temperature. $\ . \ . \ .$	84
Figure 5.6	Payoff versus the number of power levels	85

# List of Tables

Table 1.1	Thesis abbreviation.	11
Table 3.1	Variables and parameters for system model	26
Table 3.2	Change of variables table	32
Table 4.1	Building consumption scheduling algorithm	60
Table 4.2	Number of buildings connected to each Bus	62
Table 4.3	Average daily market profit vs. building's cost	65

## Chapter1

## Introduction and Background

#### 1.1 Overview

The concept of Smart Grids [1, 2, 3, 4] refers to a network system, which is able to effectively satisfy all the new requirements and functions of a future network system by using advanced Information and Communications Technologies (ICT) technologies. The traditional electricity distribution network is a passive network that delivers electricity from the generation point to the consumption point. In future, the network system has to be changed to an active network, which is able to intelligently integrate the actions of all the users connected to it including generators and consumers, in order to efficiently deliver sustainable and secure supply. The network must be able to adapt small-scale distributed generation and enable two-way power flow inside the grid. It has to be able to support all new functions of the electricity market in order to make the operation of the network and electricity market more efficient and flexible. Figure 1.1 depicts the interaction between consumer devices with communication capabilities, energy providers, and transmission and distribution functions enabled by Smart Grid network operations. The end-use devices receive information such as price signals and respond by adjusting their operation accordingly. Consumer communication devices facilitate load aggregation and control from. The distribution part models system operation. All the subsystems interact by two-way communications through the grid operator [5]. A smart grid can be characterized to [6]:

- Enable active participation by consumers
- Accommodate all generation and storage options
- Enable new products, services, and markets
- Provide power quality for the digital economy



Figure 1.1: Smart grid concept [10]

- Optimize asset utilization and operate efficiently
- Anticipate and respond to system disturbances (selfheal)
- Operate resiliently against attack and natural disaster.

Achieving the vision is dependent upon participating entities and empowers consumers as well as improving reliability of the distribution system. The primary assets of a smart grid are [7]:

- Demand response (DR): communications and controls for end-use devices and systems to reduce (or, in special cases, increase) their demand for electricity at certain times.
- Distributed generation (DG): small engine or turbine generator sets, wind turbines, and solar electric systems connected at the distribution level.

- Distributed storage (DS): batteries, flywheels, super-conducting magnetic storage, and other electric and thermal storage technologies connected at the distribution level.
- Distribution/feeder automation: distribution and feeder automation expand SCADA (Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition) communications in substations and into the feeders with remotely actuated switches for reconfiguring the network, advanced protective relays with dynamic and zonal control capabilities, dynamic capacitor bank controllers, and condition-based transformermanagement systems (to name a few).
- Transmission wide-area visualization and control: transmission control systems that rapidly sense and respond to disturbances.
- Electric and plug-in electric hybrid vehicles (EVs/PHEVs): the batteries in EVs represent both a new type of load that must be managed and an opportunity for them to discharge as energy storage resources to support the grid.

Investments in a number of enabling assets are also necessary to support the use of the primary assets for smart grid applications, hence the function of a smart grid. Among these cross-cutting technologies are [8]:

- Wide-area communications networks, servers, gateways, etc.
- Smart meters could also
  - support shorter metering intervals approaching 5 minutes or less to support provision of ancillary services and distribution capacity management (rather than the hourly interval generally considered adequate for peak load management at the bulk power systems level)
  - full two-way communications including to a home-area network to communicate to smart thermostats and appliances

- instantaneously read voltage, current, and power factor to support distribution state estimation and optimized system voltage control
- Local-area home, commercial building, and industrial energy management and control systems and networks.
- Consumer information interfaces and decision support tools.
- Utility back-office systems, including billing systems.

The objective operations are the benefits or applications to which smart grid assets are engaged to improve cost effectiveness, reliability, and energy efficiency of the power system. These can be summarized in broad categories including managing peak load capacity for generation, transmission, and distribution, reducing costs for wholesale operations and corresponding providing enhanced reliability/adequate reliability at less cost [9].

## 1.2 Green Smart Grids

The intelligence of a Smart Grid will facilitate greater utilization of intermittently available renewable resources such as solar and wind, from which will accrue reductions in  $CO_2$  emissions. As a result of the intermittent nature of wind and solar, their operation causes minute fluctuations in power generated as wind speeds change or clouds affect solar exposure. These fluctuations in power, if not counterbalanced in real time, can lead to frequency imbalance and disturb the stability of the electrical system [11, 12]. To smooth out the intermittency of renewable energy production, low-cost electrical energy storage will become necessary. Energy storage has been considered as a key enabler of the smart grid or future grid, which is expected to integrate a significant amount of renewable energy resources while providing fuel (i.e., electricity) to hybrid and electrical vehicles, although the cost of implementing energy



Figure 1.2: Features of a green grid [16].

storage is of great concern. Another major step toward achieving green grid is the energy efficiency of residential buildings which plays a significant role in addressing the climate change. In U.S. for example, 27.3 % of total greenhouse gas emission is attributed to buildings in 2003, where residential and commercial buildings account for 15.3% and 12% accordingly. For a sustainable building, the energy management units should be designed to achieve significant reductions in non-renewable resources, also minimum usage of Heating, Ventilation, and Air conditioning (HVAC) units which are accounted for the main electricity consumption factor in buildings[13].

Development and incorporation of demand response and energy-efficiency resources, deployment of §smartŤ technologies (real-time, automated, interactive technologies that optimize the physical operation of appliances and consumer devices) for metering, communications concerning grid operations and status, and distribution automation are some other approaches for developing a smart grid to help address climate change [14, 15].

## **1.3 Smart Buildings**

The building and the electricity grid sector are the most important sectors of interest since they are responsible for the greatest energy waste. Great energy savings can be achieved through sophisticated algorithms that control and schedule power tasks from smart devices in a dynamic manner. These processes provide the necessary foundations for demand response (DR) and self-adaptable smart grids [17, 18]. Smart devices are responsible in real time monitoring and actuation under command flow arriving from the smart grid. In general, the greatest the number of deployed smart devices is, more flexibility is given to the grid and thus more vibrant the grid operation is expected to be. In this regard, information technologies play an important role specifically with respect to to the followings [19, 20]:

- Integration with the smart grid via demand response: allows the system to manage consumption in response to supply conditions including price by, for example, selectively turning off appliances or reducing non-essential or nontimecritical services. Demand response helps balancing supply and demand by reducing the peak load and allowing increased use when production exceeds demand. Energy suppliers could avoid costly capital investments for generation capacity; and consumers would benefit from sharing the savings resulted from the lower operational cost of energy production.
- Autonomous building operations through continuous sense and respond. This enables the system to fully manage building energy consumption. This opportunity integrates the dynamic information of users activities (e.g., occupancy information), ambient conditions (e.g., weather, light), and energy supply conditions (e.g., real-time prices) while considering various building users constraints (e.g., business mission, cost, preferences, safety, comfort, convenience). The result is optimized building operation with the greatest energy efficiency.

Towards these directions, the role of the building energy management systems (BEMS) significant, due to their contributions to the continuous energy management and therefore to the achievement of the possible energy and cost savings. The BEMS are generally applied to the control of active systems, i.e., HVAC systems, while also determining their operating times. In the above efforts, the performance of the BEMS is directly related to the amount of energy consumed in the buildings and the comfort of the buildings occupants [21]. A BEMS basic model includes the following components [22]:

- Indoor sensors: Sensors that measure and record temperature, humidity, and  $CO_2$  mass in the building areas.
- Outdoor sensors: Sensors for the outdoor weather conditions such as temperature, humidity and luminance, which are essential for the efficient operation of the system.
- Controllers: This component category contains switches, contacts, valves, and actuators.
- Decision support unit: A real time decision support unit is included, with the following capabilities: 1) Interaction with the sensors for the diagnosis of the building state and therefore the formulation of the building energy profile. 2) Incorporation of intelligent system technologies to select the appropriate interventions, depending on the building requirements. 3) Communication with the buildings controllers based on the application of the decision.
- Database: It includes the database for the building energy characteristics and the knowledge database for all recording information.

An example of a BEMS is shown in Figure 1.3. This system receives information from light, humidity, temperature, and camera sensors. Moreover the real time prices



Figure 1.3: A building energy management system [23].

that are sending from market to the smart meters reported to the BEMS unit. Based on users constraints, cost and energy efficiency metrics the optimal control decisions will be sent to various control units in the building.

# 1.4 Motivations and Thesis Contribution

The smart grid is envisioned to be a large-scale cyber-physical system that can improve the efficiency, reliability, and robustness of power and energy grids by integrating advanced techniques from various disciplines such as power systems, control, communications, signal processing, and networking. Inherently, the smart grid is a power network composed of intelligent nodes that can operate, communicate, and interact, autonomously, in order to efficiently deliver power and electricity to their consumers. This heterogeneous nature of the smart grid motivates the adoption of advanced techniques for overcoming the various technical challenges at different levels such as design, control, and implementation. In this respect, game theory is expected to constitute a key analytical tool in the design of the future smart grid, as well as large-scale cyber-physical systems. Game theory is a formal analytical as well as conceptual framework with a set of mathematical tools enabling the study of complex interactions among independent rational players. For several decades, game theory has been adopted in a wide number of disciplines ranging from economics and politics to psychology [28, 29]. In particular, there is a need to deploy novel models and algorithms that can capture the following characteristics of the emerging smart grid: 1- the need for distributed operation of the smart grid nodes for communication and control purposes, 2- the heterogeneous nature of the smart grid which is typically composed of a variety of nodes such as micro-grids, smart meters, appliances, and others, each of which having different capabilities and objectives, 3- the need for efficiently integrating advanced techniques from power systems, communications, and signal processing, and 4- the need for low-complexity distributed algorithms that can efficiently represent competitive or collaborative scenarios between the various entities of the smart grid. In this context, game theory could constitute a robust framework that can address many of these challenges [30]. Following are the main contributions of this dissertation:

#### Stochastic dynamic hydrothermal scheduling in smart grid networks

We study the competitive interactions between an autonomous pumped-storage plant as an energy storage and a thermal-power plant in order to optimize power generation and storage. A stochastic dynamic game is formulated to characterize this competition. The simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and suggest how to optimize the amounts of generation in hydropower and thermal power plants over time with the fluctuations of price. The proposed framework and games can reduce the peak to average ratio and total energy generation for the thermal plant, which helps power plant operation and reduces CO2 emission.

#### Autonomous demand response using stochastic differential games

We propose a two level dynamic game framework is proposed to model distributed energy management of smart residential buildings. At the beginning of each hour, the price is decided by the upper level (market) given the total demand of users in the lower level from the previous hour. At the lower level, for each player (i.e., one building), given the price from the upper level, the electricity usage of air conditioning unit and the battery storage charging and discharging scheduled are controlled in order to minimize the user total cost. Based on the effect of real-time pricing on users daily demand profile, the simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and show how we can optimize the household electricity cost in presence of time-varying prices.

#### Distributed control of HVAC systems in smart buildings

The problem of distributed control of HVAC systems in an energy-smart building is addressed. Using tools from game theory the interaction among several autonomous HVAC units is studied and simple learning dynamics based on trial-and-error learning are proposed to achieve equilibrium. In particular, it is shown that this algorithm reaches stochastically stable states that are equilibria and maximizers of the global welfare of the corresponding game. Simulation results demonstrate that dynamic distributed control for the HVAC system can significantly increase the energy efficiency of smart buildings.

#### 1.5 Thesis Organization

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows: In Chapter 2, An overview of analysis methods used in this dissertation is presented. The problem of grid integration of energy storages is studied for specific case of pumped-storage plant using stochastic differential game theory in Chapter 3. In Chapter 4, we proposed a game theoretic demand response scheme for energy-smart buildings. Using this game, the optimal control decisions for controllable load to minimize the consumption cast while satisfying users' constraints are achieved. In Chapter 5, using satisfaction game theory which requires minimum information of players, we designed a scheme for distributed control of HVAC units of multiple zones in large-scale buildings. Finally in Chapter 6 we explain the future researches and conclude this thesis. Table 1.1 shows the abbreviations used in this thesis.

(BEMS)	Building Energy Management Systems
CC	Control Center
DG	Distributed Generation
DS	Distributed storage
DR	Demand Response
ECC	Energy Control Center
ED	Economic Dispatch
EV	Electric Vehicle
FTR	Financial Transmission Right
HJB	Hamilton-Jacobi-Belman Equation
HVAC	Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning
ICT	Information and Communications Technologies
ILP	Integer Linear Programming
ISO	Independent System Operator
LMP	Locational Marginal Price
NE	Nash Equilibrium
OPF	Optimal Power Flow
PHEV	Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle
PJM	Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland
PDE	Partial Differential Equation
RTU	Remote Terminal Unit
SCADA	Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition
SE	Satisfaction Equiblirium
SVD	Singular Value Decomposition

 Table 1.1:
 Thesis abbreviation.

## Chapter2

## Game Theory Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Overview of Differential Games

Optimization theory deals with the case where there is only one individual, making a decision and achieving a payoff. Game theory, on the other hand, is concerned with the more complex situation where two or more individuals, or "players" are present. Each player can choose among a set of available options. His payoff, however, depends also on the choices made by all the other players [31].

Game can be static or dynamic. In static games, each player makes one choice and this completely determines the payoffs. In other relevant situations, the game takes place not instantaneously but over a whole interval of time. This leads to the study of dynamic games. The study of differential games as a special class of dynamic games, was initiated by Rufus Isaacs in the early 1950's. Basically a differential game is a mathematical model designed to solve a conflicting situation that changes with time. In differential games, there are more than one player, each having separate objective functions which each is trying to maximize and it is subjected to a set of differential equations which model the dynamic nature of the system [32].

Differential game is an extension of static noncooperative game theory by adopting the methods and models developed in optimal control theory. Optimal control theory has been developed to study the optimal solution of optimization problem of dynamic system (i.e., state evolves over time). Therefore, optimal control can be applied to game theory to obtain the equilibrium solution for rational entities with different objective or payoff functions. One major approach to solve for optimal solution in optimal control theory is the dynamic programming. This approach has been adopted in differential game in which the payoff of player depends on the state (i.e., constrained by the state) which evolves over time. The common solution concepts of differential game are Nash equilibrium and Stackelberg solution for non-hierarchical and hierarchical structures, respectively. Using techniques in optimal control theory, these solutions can be obtained [33].

## 2.1.1 Optimal Control Problem

In optimal control, each player has an optimization problem with single objective (e.g., to maximize payoff) over a period of time. This optimization problem considers the actions of the other players to be fixed at the equilibrium.

In the standard model of control theory, the state of a system is described by a variable x. This state evolves in time, according to an Ordinary Differential Equation (ODE)[34]:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u(t)) + \rho w$$
 (2.1)  
 $x(0) = x^{0},$ 

where w is control function. A basic problem in optimal control is to find a control function which maximizes the payoff:

$$L[u(.)] = \int_0^T g(x(t), u(t))dt + h(x(T)), \qquad (2.2)$$

where h is a terminal payoff, while g accounts for a running payoff.

# 2.1.2 Differential Games

Differential games are the extension of the basic optimal control problem to the situation where more than one player participate at the game, and each one of them tries to maximize his own pay. The system state x evolves through the time according

to the following ODE:

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u_1(t), ..., u_i(t), ..., u_N(t))$$

$$x(0) = x^0,$$
(2.3)

where  $u_i$  is the control function of the player *i* and *N* is total number of players. Player *i* chooses his control function in a way that maximizes its payoff:

$$L_i[\mathbf{u}(.)] = \int_0^T g_i(x(t), u_1(t), ..., u_N(t)) dt + h_i(x(T)).$$
(2.4)

The analysis of differential games relies heavily on concepts and techniques of optimal control theory. Equilibrium strategies in feedback form are best studied by looking at a system of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) for the value functions of the various players, derived from the principle of dynamic programming. Dynamic programming is based on the principle of optimality. With this principle, an optimal action 1 has the property that whatever the initial state and time are, all remaining decision must also constitute an optimal action. To achieve this principle, the solution can be obtained backwards in time. That is, we starting at all possible final states with the corresponding final times (e.g., stages). The optimal action at this final time is selected, then we proceed back one step in time and determine the optimal action again. This step is repeated until the initial time or stage is reached. The core of dynamic programming when it is applied to continuous time optimal control is a the partial differential equation (PDE) of HJB.

In order to derive the optimal control functions for each player using dynamic programming, first the value functions should be defined as follows:

$$v_i(x,t) = \max_{u(\cdot)} L_i[u(\cdot)]$$
(2.5)

and

$$v_i(x,t) = h_i(x).$$
 (2.6)

For players to play the game, the available information is required. In differential game, there are three cases of available information.

- Open-loop information: With open-loop action, the players have common knowledge of the values of state variables at initial time t = 0. At this initial state, each player chooses the control variable path by taking into account the expected behavior of all other players. All players commit themselves to their action paths before the game starts.
- Close-loop information: With close-loop information, players are assumed to know the values of state variables from time 0 to t, i.e., [0, t) without delay.
- Feedback information: At time t, players are assumed to know the values of state variables at time t ε, where ε is positive and arbitrarily small. The information set at time t can be estimated from the vector of value of state variables of all players at time t ε.

At this stage, a natural assumption is that the strategies adopted by players have the feedback form:  $u_i = u_i^*(x^*)$ ; in other words, they depend only on the current state of the system, not the past history. For a Nash non-cooperative solution in feedback form, one can show that the value functions,  $v_i$ , satisfy HJB equations derived from the principle of dynamic programming.

**Theorem 2.1.** [33] The optimal solutions  $u_i^*$ , i = 1, ...N lead to a feedback Nash equilibrium solution to the game, and  $x^*(t)$  is the corresponding state trajectory, if there exist suitably smooth functions  $v_i$  satisfying the following rectilinear parabolic partial differential equations:

$$-\frac{\partial v_i(x,t)}{\partial t} = \max_{u_i(t,x)} \left\{ \frac{\partial^2 v_i(x,t)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial v_i(x,t)}{\partial x} f[t,x,U_i,U_{j\neq i}^*] + g_i[t,x,u_i,u_{j\neq i}^*] \right\}.$$
 (2.7)

The HJB equation is usually solved backwards in time, starting from t = T and ending at t = 0. In general case, the HJB equation does not have a classical (smooth) solution. Several notions of generalized solutions have been developed to cover such situations, including viscosity solution [35], minimax solution [36]. For the special case of affine-linear quadratic game, the value function has the unique solution which should satisfy a set of first order differential equations. The closed form solution for the optimal action can be obtained for this special case.

# 2.1.3 Stochastic Differential Games

A stochastic formulation for dynamic defined in continuous time of prescribed duration involves a stochastic differential equation describes the evolution of the state as follows,

$$\dot{x}(t) = f(x(t), u_1(t), \dots, u_i, \dots, u_N) + \rho w$$

$$x(0) = x^0,$$
(2.8)

where w represents random fluctuations modeled as Gaussian noise with zero mean and variance  $\sigma^2$ . The value functions of players for the stochastic scenario can be written as:

$$v_i(x,t) = \max_{u_i(t)} L_i = E_w \left\{ \int_0^T g_i(t) dt + h_i[x(T)] \right\}.$$
 (2.9)

Finally for the optimal control functions can be obtained using stochastic HJB equations as follows:

$$-\frac{\partial v_i(x,t)}{\partial t} = \max_{u_i(t)} \left\{ \frac{(\rho)^2 \sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v_i(x,t)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial v_i(x,t)}{\partial x} f[t,x,u_i(t)] + g_i[t,x,u_i(t)] \right\}.$$
(2.10)

For special case of quadratic payoff function, the closed-form solutions can be derived. For this case the standard form of the game can be written as follows [37]:

$$\dot{x} = f[x(t), u_1(t), ..., u_N] + \rho w$$
  
=  $Ax(t) + B_1 u_1(t) + B_2 u_2(t) + ... + B_N u_N(t) + C + \rho w.$  (2.11)

The affine-quadratic cost function can be rewritten as follows:

$$g_i = \frac{1}{2}Qx^2 + \Sigma_i R_i u_i^2 + N$$
 (2.12)

and

$$h_i = \frac{1}{2}Q^f x^2. (2.13)$$

Finally, for the value function, we have:

$$v_{i}(x,t) = \max_{u_{i}(t)} L$$

$$= \max_{u_{i}(t)} E_{w} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \mu[x(t), u_{i}(t)(t)] dt + h[x(T)] \right\}.$$
(2.14)

According to [33], the value function for an affine linear quadratic problem has a unique solution for  $v_i(t)$ :

$$v_i[t] = \frac{1}{2}T_i(t)X(t)^2 + x(t)\zeta_i(t) + \xi_i(t) + m_i(t), \qquad (2.15)$$

where  $T_i(t)$  satisfies the following Riccati differential equations

$$\frac{dT_i}{dt} + 2T_iF_i + Q_i + \frac{T_i^2B_i^2}{R_i} = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

$$T_i(T) = Q_i^f, (2.17)$$

and

$$F_i = A - \frac{T_i B_i^2}{R_i}.$$
 (2.18)

 $\zeta_i$  and  $m_i$  can be obtained from the following differential equations, respectively:

$$\frac{d\zeta_i}{dt} + \frac{F_i \zeta_i + T_i \zeta_i B_i^2}{R_i} + T_i B_i = 0, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\zeta_i(T) = 0, \tag{2.20}$$

$$\frac{dm_i}{dt} + \alpha_i \zeta_i + \frac{\zeta_i^2 B_i^2}{2R_i} = 0,$$
(2.21)

$$m_i(T) = 0 \tag{2.22}$$

and

$$\alpha_i = C - \frac{\zeta_i B_i^2}{R_i}.$$
(2.23)

Finally,  $\xi_i$  statistics the equation below,

$$\frac{d\xi_i}{dt} = -\frac{R_i \sigma^2 u_i}{2}.$$
(2.24)

The optimal control variable can be obtained as follows:

$$u_i^* = -\frac{B_i}{R_i}\frac{\partial v_i}{\partial x} = -\frac{B_i(T_i x + \zeta_i)}{R_i}.$$
(2.25)

As it is shown, the optimal control function constitutes a feedback Nash Equilibrium to the stochastic differential game.

## 2.2 Overview of Satisfaction Games

In real life distributed systems, agents generally do not have knowledge of their opponents strategies. In this context, most game theoretic solution concepts are hardly applicable. Therefore, it is needed to define equilibrium concepts that do not require complete information and are achievable through learning, over repeated play. The satisfaction form is a game theoretical formulation which models systems where players are not interested in maximizing their own utility, rather in satisfying their own constraints [24].

Let us define the game as

$$\mathcal{G}' = \left(\mathcal{K}, \mathcal{A}^K, \left\{f_k\right\}_{k \in \mathcal{K}}\right),\tag{2.26}$$

where  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\mathcal{A}^{K}$  follow the previous definitions and the correspondence  $f_{k} : \mathcal{A}^{(K-1)} \to \mathcal{A}$ , called *satisfaction* correspondence, is defined as

$$f_k(\boldsymbol{a}_{-k}) = \left(a_k \in \mathcal{A} : \sum_{\ell \in \mathcal{L}_k} \infty_{\{\xi_\ell(a_k, \boldsymbol{a}_{-k}, ) \ge \Gamma\}} = L_k\right).$$
(2.27)

Basically (2.27) is a correspondence which, given the action chosen by the other players, selects all the actions that satisfy the individual constraints. Here, a player can use any of its actions independently of all the other players. The dependence on the other players' actions plays a role only in determining whether a player is satisfied or not.

In this game formulation, the solution concept we adopt is the satisfaction equilibrium (SE) [24] defined as follows:

**Definition 2.2.** (Satisfaction equilibrium). A satisfaction equilibrium of game  $\mathcal{G}'$  is

an action profile  $\mathbf{a'} \in \mathcal{A}^K$  such that  $\forall k \in \mathcal{K}$ ,

$$a_k' \in f_k\left(\boldsymbol{a}_{-k}'\right). \tag{2.28}$$

The SE is an action profile where all players are simultaneously satisfying their constraints. In other words, if there exists at least one SE, then  $L^* = L$ , since all players can be satisfied. However, an SE does not always exist for a given game. For instance, if not all the communications can simultaneously take place with the minimum required QoS in the network modeled by the game G, an SE simply does not exist. An extensive discussion on the existence and multiplicity of an SE in finite games is provided in [25].

# 2.2.1 Efficient Satisfaction Equilibrium

Consider that player k assigns a cost to each of its actions  $a_k$ , which we denote by  $c_k(a_k)$ . For all  $k \in \mathcal{K}$ , the cost function  $c_k : \mathcal{A}_k \to [0, 1]$  satisfies the following condition:  $\forall (a_k, a'_k) \in \mathcal{A}^2_k$ , it holds that

$$c_k\left(a_k\right) < c_k\left(a_k'\right),\tag{2.29}$$

if and only if,  $a_k$  requires a lower effort than action  $a'_k$  when it is played by player k. In the QoS problem, the effort can be associated with the transmit power or the processing time required to implement a given transmit/receive configuration [26]. Thus, considering the effort or cost of individual actions, one SE which is particularly interesting in the QoS provisioning problem is the one that requires the lowest individual effort.

**Definition 2.3** (Efficient Satisfaction Equilibrium). An action profile  $a^*$  is an ESE

for the game G, with cost functions  $\{c_k\}_{k\in\mathcal{K}}$ , if for all  $k\in\mathcal{K}$ ,

(i) 
$$a_k^* \in f_k\left(\boldsymbol{a}_{-k}^*\right)$$
 and (2.30)

(*ii*) 
$$\forall a_k \in f_k(\mathbf{a}_{-k}^*), \ c_k(a_k) \ge c_k(a_k^*).$$
 (2.31)

The effort associated by each player with each of its actions does not depend on the choices made by other players. Thus, an ESE  $\mathbf{a}^* \in \mathcal{A}$ , if it exists, is one SE at which player k is satisfied by using the action  $a_k^*$  that requires the minimum effort among all the actions in  $f_k(\mathbf{a}_{-k})$ . Nonetheless, the existence of an SE does not imply the existence of an ESE.

# 2.2.2 Modeling Drop-ins and Drop-outs

Consider a game played only by a subset  $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{K}$  of the players of the game G and denote it by

$$G(\mathcal{J}) = \left(\mathcal{J}, \{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k \in \mathcal{J}}, \{f_k^{(\mathcal{J})}\}_{k \in \mathcal{J}}\right).$$
(2.32)

The function  $f_k^{(\mathcal{J})} : \mathcal{A}_{\mathcal{J}} \to 2^{\mathcal{A}_k}$  determines the set of actions that satisfy the individual constraints of player k given the actions adopted by the subset of players  $\mathcal{J}$ . In the game  $G(\mathcal{J})$ , players in  $\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{J}$  do not play any role in the decisions adopted by the players in  $\mathcal{J}$ . More precisely, the game  $G(\mathcal{J})$  is obtained when the players in the set  $\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{J}$  have decided to drop out of the original game G [27].

A player j drops out of the game G by playing the action corresponding to a standby state of the link which is denoted by  $A_j^{(0)}$ . In the game G, such an action  $A_j^{(0)}$  satisfies the following condition for all  $j \in \mathcal{J}$ :

$$f_k^{(\mathcal{J})}(\boldsymbol{a}_{\mathcal{J}\backslash\{j\}}) = f_k\left(\left(\boldsymbol{a}_{\mathcal{J}\backslash\{j\}}, \boldsymbol{A}_{\mathcal{K}\backslash\mathcal{J}}^{(0)}\right)\right), \qquad (2.33)$$

where the action profile  $A_{\mathcal{K}\setminus\mathcal{J}}^{(0)}$  represents an action profile in which all players  $k \in$ 

 $\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{J}$  use the action  $A_k^{(0)}$ . The equality in (2.33) shows that when a set of players  $\mathcal{K} \setminus \mathcal{J}$  choose to play their actions  $A_k^{(0)}$  in the game G, they do not play any role in the choice of the actions of the players in  $\mathcal{J}$ .

The relevance of a game  $G(\mathcal{J})$ , given a set  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$ , stems from the fact that if the game G does not have an SE, the set  $\mathcal{J}$  can be chosen in order to allow the satisfaction of the largest population of players. That is,  $\mathcal{J}$  can be constructed such that the sub-game  $G(\mathcal{J})$  is the game with the largest population that possesses an SE. We refer to these action profiles as N-Person Satisfaction Points (N-PSPs) of the game G.

**Definition 2.4** (*N*-Person Satisfaction Point (*N*-PSP)). Assume the game in satisfaction form *G* does not possess an SE. Then, an action profile  $(\boldsymbol{a}_{\mathcal{J}}^*, \boldsymbol{A}_{\mathcal{K}\setminus\mathcal{J}}^{(0)})$  is said to be an *N*-PSP, if  $|\mathcal{J}| = N$  and  $G(\mathcal{J}) = (\mathcal{J}, \{\mathcal{A}_k\}_{k\in\mathcal{J}}, \{f_k^{(\mathcal{J})}\}_{k\in\mathcal{J}})$  is the sub-game with the largest set of players that has an SE.

When a game G possesses at least one SE, any SE is a K-PSP. That is, when the simultaneous satisfaction of all individual constraints is feasible, SE and K-PSP are identical notions.
## Chapter3

# Stochastic Dynamic Hydrothermal Scheduling in a Smart Grid network

#### 3.1 Introduction

Recent efforts on smart grids [1, 2, 3, 13, 14, 15, 28] are motivated in part by the increasing demand for electric power, growing interest in finding pollution-free and sustainable energy supply sources, and inadequacy of the current transmission system. Energy storages can balance supply and demand of the electricity market, and mitigate supply side uncertainties. Among grid energy storages, pumped-storage plants generally have the largest available capacity. A pumped storage plant stores off-peak energy using water which is later used for generation during peak periods. Other types of energy storing devices and plug-in electrical vehicles have limited use in power systems due to their relatively small capacity and high costs.

Pumped-storage plants are usually operated within an overall system which contains thermal generation due to very high operating cost of thermal power plants compared to the operating cost of hydro power plant. The hydrothermal generation scheduling is concerned with both hydro plant scheduling and thermal plant dispatching. A variety of optimization methods have been proposed for planning the optimal operations of hydrothermal power systems. The scheduling problems considering deterministic and stochastic programming models have been studied for different time horizons. The planning horizons considered are long-medium term (1 to 3 years) [38, 39, 40], or short-term (weeks to a day) [41, 42]. For short-term models, the optimal operation scheduling of the available generating plants is defined for the following 24 hours. Specifically, authors in [43] introduced the stochastic programming models for the short-term hydro-thermal scheduling problem under uncertain demand. Authors in [44] developed the stochastic scheduling models for the short-term hydropower production considering the uncertainty of natural inflows in reservoirs.

A widely used paradigm for modeling the hydrothermal power plants behavior in the oligopolistic electricity markets is so called the Nash-Cournot model, dealing with the analysis of the market equilibria [45]. The Nash-Cournot approach assumes that each strategic power plants decides its generation level supposing the energy outputs by the remaining strategic power plants are known. The market scheme is thus simulated through a game: the first strategic power plant chooses its profitmaximizing output under the assumption that the production of the other strategic power plants is known. This is repeated for each strategic power plant that decides its generation level based upon the most recent decisions of the others, until reaching a Nash equilibrium, where no power plant can profit from changing its output levels given the output of all other strategic power plants [46]. In [47], some theoretical results concerning the Cournot model applied to short-term electricity markets are presented. Authors in [48] address a short term hydrothermal scheduling problem using differential dynamic programming but not in a game fashion. The problem is decomposed into a thermal subproblem and a hydro subproblem that are solved in parallel through a constraint relaxed iterative algorithm not in a game fashion. A hydrothermal power exchange market that incorporates network constraints is proposed in [49], the Nash-Cournot equilibrium solution of the market is achieved using the Nikaido-Isoda function, which is derived from the profit maximization functions calculated by the generating companies. The reservoir dynamic is not incorporated in the system model.

In this chapter, we study the competitive interactions between an autonomous pumped-storage hydropower plant and a thermal-power plant in order to optimize power generation and storage. The instantaneous market price can be modeled as a Cournot duopoly game [29, 30]. Here, the dynamic comes from the water volume in the reservoir, and the stochastic captures the natural inflow and loss to the reservoir. The hydro plant decides how much power to produce, and the thermal plant decides how much to sell to the market or sell to the hydro plant for pump-up storage. The major contributions of this section are:

- We propose a game-theorical framework in which the thermal and pumpedstorage power plants are networked and the thermal plant has the choice to sell the power to the pumped-storage plant.
- We solve the stochastic the Hamilton–Jacobi–Bellman (HJB) equation and obtain an optimal closed-form solutions for both thermal and hydro players.
- We analyze the outcome of interactions between two players and prove it constitutes a feedback Nash equilibrium solution.
- We demonstrate through simulations that the proposed framework can reduce the peak to average ratio and total energy generation of the thermal plant, which help plant operation and reduce CO2 emission with respect to the case that hydro and thermal power plants are working in isolation.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows: In Section 3.2, the system model is given, and the game is constructed. In Section 3.3, we study the close-form solutions and properties of the proposed game. Simulation results are shown in Section 3.4. Finally, conclusions are drawn in Section 3.5. For better readability, important variables and parameters used in this section are listed in Table 3.1.

## 3.2 System Model and Game Formulation

We consider a smart grid network with one pumped-storage hydro power plant and one thermal power plant as two price makers. Each price maker power plant has autonomy to maximize its own profit by adjusting its generation volume. The

Symbol Description		
$\overline{x}$	reservoir volume	
$r_H$	water discharge rate	
$s_H$	water spillage rate	
$p_T^g$	thermal plant output to sell to the market	
$p_T^s$	thermal plant output to store	
$p_H$	pumped-storage output	
w	natural inflows to the storage	
D	the total demand	
$\beta$	storage leakage rate	
$\eta_1$	turbine efficiency	
$\eta_2$	generator efficiency	
g	acceleration of gravity	
p	market price	
K	fixed price from thermal to hydro	

 Table 3.1: Variables and parameters for system model.

power can be sold in the market, and the unit power price depends on the demand and supply, and is dynamic over different periods of time. Alternatively, the thermal power plant can sell its power at a fixed price to the pumped-storage hydro plant by storing the energy in the reservoir. The state of available hydroelectric energy depends on the amount of water stored in the reservoirs. The uncertainty of natural inflows and outflows to the reservoir is modeled as stochastic processes. The overall system model is illustrated in Figure 3.1.

Based on the system setup, a quantitative 2-player differential game is defined with the following components<sup>1</sup>: A *time interval* [0, T] is specified a priori and denotes the duration of the evolution of the game. In this section, [0, T] represents each hour in a one-day duration. An infinite set with some topological structure is defined for each power plant and is called the *action space*, whose elements are the control functions. For the pumped-storage hydro plant the action  $u_1(t) = r_H(t)$  is the discharged water from the dam; and for the thermal plant, the action  $u_2(t) = p_T^g(t)$  is how much power

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Here, we consider a two-player game, and multiple price maker player games will be studied in our future study.



Figure 3.1: System and game model.

to sell to the market from its output. Notice that we define  $u_1$  and  $u_2$  here since the definitions will make the analysis clear in the following sections. The actions of the power plant and thermal plant will affect the market price as well as the storage volume in the reservoir. The goal is to study the optimal strategies to control the actions, and analyze the interaction between the two plants.

In the rest of this section, we first discuss the dynamic model for the stored water volume of the reservoir in Section 3.2.1. Then we study how the market price is obtained in Section 3.2.2. Next, we formulate the controls for the hydro plant and thermal plant, in Section 3.2.3 and Section 3.2.4 respectively. Finally, we change the problem formulation in the standard form to simplify analysis in Section 3.2.5.

## 3.2.1 Dynamic Model

An infinite set  $\mathcal{X}$  with a certain topological structure is called the *trajectory space* of the game. Its elements are denoted as  $\{x(t), 0 \leq t \leq T\}$  and constitute the permissible state trajectories of the game. In our case,  $x(t) \ge 0$ ,  $\forall t \in [0, T]$  is the current volume of the pumped-storage plant's reservoir <sup>2</sup>. The reservoir dynamics can be characterized as a linear differential equation [48]:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = -\rho_0 \beta x(t) + \rho_1 p_T^s(t) + \rho_2 (w - \vartheta_H), \qquad (3.1)$$

where x is the reservoir volume in  $(m^3)$ ,  $\beta$  is reservoir leakage rate,  $\rho_0$ ,  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  are the constant factors, w represents random fluctuations modeled as Gaussian noise with zero mean<sup>3</sup> and variance  $\sigma^2$ . In addition,  $p_T$  is the total power generated by the thermal plant and  $p_T^s$  represents the amount power that the thermal plant decides to store. We assume the initial state  $x_0$  is known. It is important to note that, this dynamic model of reservoir is applicable to the normal operation of the pumpedstorage power plant and does not consider extreme cases, such as dead storage level or flooding condition. Alternatively boundary conditions can be coped by adding barrier functions [29]. However, there will be no closed-form solution as derived in the sequel and only numerical solutions can be obtained.

Since the generation of the thermal power plant has a slow response to load changes, for simplicity, we assume  $p_T = p_T^g(t) + p_T^s(t)$  to be constant in this section. If  $p_T$  changing slowly over time, a similar approach applies. Finally, the total water released at time t is shown by  $\vartheta_H(t)$  which can be obtained as:

$$\vartheta_H = r_H + s_H, \tag{3.2}$$

where  $r_H$  is the water discharge rate in  $(m^3/s)$ , and  $s_H$  is water spillage rate in  $(m^3/s)$ assumed to be constant over time. <sup>4</sup> The pumped-storage power plant generation at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Here, we omit the maximal power storage constraint due to the difficulty of analysis. From the simulation results, we show the dynamic range of the storage, which is within practical ranges.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>non-zero mean case can be studied by adding a constant in (3.1).

 $<sup>{}^{4}\</sup>mathrm{In}$  practice, spillage rate is not a constant. However, we can model the randomness together with w.

time t,  $p_H(t)$ , can be estimated as [51]:

$$p_H(t) = \eta(x(t))r_h(t),$$
 (3.3)

where  $\eta$  is function of the net head or, equivalently, the volume of the stored water in the reservoir. Since x and  $r_H$  perturbations are small compared with the normal values of these parameters (operating point) for large reservoirs, the linear small disturbance approximation [52] can be used to write the hydro generation as:

$$p_H(t) = W_1 r_H(t) + W_2 x(t) = W_1 u_1(t) + W_2 x(t).$$
(3.4)

Let the operating point be  $(x^{\dagger}, r_h^{\dagger})$ ,  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  can then be computed as follows [52]:

$$W_1 = g\eta_1\eta_2 x^\dagger \tag{3.5}$$

and

$$W_2 = g\eta_1 \eta_2 r_h^{\dagger}. \tag{3.6}$$

Replacing equations (3.2) and (3.4) in equation (3.1), the storage dynamic equation can be rewritten as function of the system state and control variables as follows:

$$\frac{dx(t)}{dt} = f[x(t), u_1(t), u_2(t)]dt + \rho_2 w$$

$$= \{-\rho_0 \beta x(t) + \rho_1 [p_T - p_T^g(t)] - \rho_2 \{r_H(t) + s_H\}\} + \rho_2 w.$$
(3.7)

## 3.2.2 Market Price Model

Using the market price model introduced in [45], we assume the price takers have a quadratic operating cost

$$C(O) = \frac{O^2}{2\alpha},\tag{3.8}$$

where O is total generation of price taker power plants and  $\alpha$  is a scalar parameter. Using this assumption, given a market spot price p, the price taker plant generation can be obtained by setting their marginal generation cost equal to the market price. The marginal generation cost can be obtained the derivative of with respect to O. Therefore, the price taker plants generation is a linear function of the spot price p, i.e.,  $O(p) = \alpha p$ .

Consider D as the total demand, and O(p) as the total generation of price takers as discussed above. The total output of price maker power plants,  $p_H(t) + p_T^g(t)$ , should satisfy the residual demand:

$$D_r = D - O(p) = D - \alpha p. \tag{3.9}$$

Therefore, the spot price can be obtained as:

$$p = \{D - [p_H(t) + p_T^g(t)]\}/\alpha.$$
(3.10)

Without loss of generality, we assume  $\alpha = 1$  in the rest of this section for simplicity.

## 3.2.3 Control for Hydro Plant

The revenue of the hydro plant, given the generation of other plants as given is:

$$g_1(t) = [D - p_H(t) - p_T^g(t)] p_H(t) - K p_T^s(t), \qquad (3.11)$$

where the first term in (3.11) is the profit of selling power to the market, and the second term is the cost that the thermal player sells to the hydro player to store the power in the reservoir (by pumping water up). Here K represents the constant price (e.g. per a long-term contract) for selling from the thermal player to the hydro player.

We can rewrite (3.11) with state (x(t)) and control  $(u_1(t) \text{ and } u_2(t))$  as

$$g_1(t) = \{D - W_1 u_1(t) - W_2 x(t) - u_2(t)\} [W_1 u_1(t) + W_2 x(t)] - K[p_T - u_2(t)]. (3.12)$$

The stochastic dynamic game of the pumped-storage hydro player is to control its discharged water  $r_H$  so as to maximize the following *utility* over the time interval

$$v_1(x) = \max_{u_1(t)=r_H(t)} L_1 = E_w \left\{ \int_0^T g_1(t) dt \right\}.$$
 (3.13)

# 3.2.4 Control for Thermal Plant

Similarly, the stochastic dynamic game of the thermal player is to control its selling  $u_2(t) = p_T^g(t)$  and storing  $p_T^s$  so as to maximize its *utility*. Since we assume  $p_T$  to be a constant, the thermal plant's action can be uniquely determined by  $u_2(t)$ . The thermal plant tries to maximize the following:

$$g_2(t) = \{D - p_H(t) - p_T^g\}p_T^g(t) + Kp_T^s(t)\{\epsilon_2 p_T^2 + \epsilon_1 p_T + \epsilon_0\}$$
(3.14)

and

$$v_2(x) = \max_{u_2(t) = p_T^g(t)} L_2 = E_w \left\{ \int_0^T g_2(t) dt \right\}.$$
 (3.15)

In (3.14), the first term is the profit to sell in the market, the second term is the profit to sell to the hydro player, and the third term is the power generation cost [53]. Here  $\epsilon_0$ ,  $\epsilon_1$  and  $\epsilon_2$  are constants. We can rewrite (3.14) as

$$g_2(t) = \{D - W_1 u_1(t) - W_2 x(t) - u_2(t)\} u_2(t) + K[p_T - u_2(t)]$$

$$-\{\epsilon_2 p_T^2 + \epsilon_1 p_T + \epsilon_0\}.$$
(3.16)

# 3.2.5 Standard Form Notation

Х	$\frac{3W_{2x}}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{P[e] - u_T^g}{2\sqrt{3}}$
$U_1$	$W_1 r_H + \frac{W_2 x}{2} + \frac{P[e] - u_T^g}{2}$
$U_2$	$u_T^g - \frac{D - (W_1 r_H^* + W_2 x) - K}{2}$
А	$\frac{5\rho_0\beta - \rho_1 W_2 - 3\rho_2 \bar{W}_2}{-4W_2(\frac{3}{\sqrt{2}} + \frac{1}{4\sqrt{3}})}$
$B_1$	$\frac{-\sqrt{2}\rho_0\beta - 6\sqrt{3}\rho_1W_2 + (\sqrt{2} - 12\sqrt{3})\rho_2W_2}{-W_2(12\sqrt{3} + \sqrt{2})}$
$B_2$	$\frac{2\rho_0\beta + 12\sqrt{3}\rho_1W_2 + (\sqrt{2} + 6\sqrt{3})\rho_2W_2}{-W_2(12\sqrt{3} + \sqrt{2})}$
C	$\rho_1 u_T - \rho_2 s_H + \frac{P[e](A + \sqrt{3}B_1 - \sqrt{3}B_2)}{2\sqrt{3}} +$
	$\frac{B_2K}{2}$
$Q_H, R_H$	2
$Q_T, Q_H^f, Q_T^f,$	0
$N_H$	$-Ku_T^s - \frac{(D-u_T^{g^*})^2}{3}$
$R_T$	-1
$N_T$	$K u_T - \{\epsilon_2 [u_T^g(t) + u_T^s(t)]^2 +$
	$\begin{vmatrix} \epsilon_1[u_T^g(t) + u_T^s(t)] + \epsilon_0 \\ \frac{(D - (W_1 r_H^* + W_2 x^*) - K)^2}{4} \end{vmatrix} + \\ + \epsilon_0 +$

 Table 3.2: Change of variables table.

Notice that the utility functions are not in a standard form of the controls. So we change the variables as shown in Table 3.2. By changing the variable, the problem in (3.7) is an affine-quadratic differential game [33] with dynamics in the form of<sup>5</sup>

$$\frac{dX}{dt} = f(X, U_1, U_2)dt + \rho_2 w = (AX + B_1U_1 + B_2U_2 + C) + \rho_2 w.$$
(3.17)

From (3.12) and (3.14), the pumped-storage and thermal plants payoff functions are, respectively, in forms of

$$g_1 = \frac{1}{2}Q_H X^2 + R_H U_1^2 + N_H, \qquad (3.18)$$

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{2} Q_H^f X^2, (3.19)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> for notational simplicity time index t is omitted

$$g_2 = \frac{1}{2}Q_T X^2 + R_T U_2^2 + N_T, \qquad (3.20)$$

and

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{2} Q_T^f X^2. aga{3.21}$$

In summary, the pumped-storage plant and thermal plant control  $u_1(t) = r_H(t)$ and  $u_2(t) = p_T^g(t)$ , respectively. The dynamics in (3.17) is a linear function of state x(t) and those two controls, and the utility functions are in the linear quadratic forms of the controls.

#### **3.3** Game Analysis and Performance

As an overview, differential games are the extension of the optimal control problems [33]. The Nash feedback equilibrium strategies are derived from a system of The Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equations for the value functions of the players. The solution is obtained backwards in time using dynamic programming. That is, starting from all possible final states, the optimal action at each final time is selected, we then induce backward one step at time and determine the optimal action at each stage. This process is repeated until the initial time or stage is reached.

In this section we analyze the nonzero sum stochastic differential game of the thermal and pumped-storage power plants based on the models in the previous section. In the sequel, we will study the payoff maximization of pumped-storage plant and thermal plant given the other's strategy is fixed in Section 3.3.1 and Section 3.3.2, respectively. Finally, we discuss the outcome of the proposed games in Section 3.3.3.

## 3.3.1 Pumped-Storage Player Payoff Maximization

First, given the thermal plant's strategy, the pumped-storage plant calculates its the best strategy through the stochastic HJB equation. This equation is considered to be the first-order necessary and sufficient condition obeyed by the optimal value function and can be used to find the optimal time paths of the state, costate, and control variables. If the HJB equation is solvable (either analytically or numerically), an optimal feedback control can be obtained by taking the maiximizer involved in the HJB equation [33]. To optimize the utility function in (3.13), the HJB equation for the pumped-storage power plant can be written as follows:

$$-\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial t} = \max_{U_1} \left\{ \frac{(\rho_2)^2 \sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v_1}{\partial X^2} + \frac{\partial v_1}{\partial X} f(X, U_1, U_2^*) + g_1 \right\}$$
(3.22)

and

$$v_1[X(T)] = h_1[X(T)].$$
(3.23)

In order to obtain the optimal action for each player of game, first the related value functions have to be derived, for the special case of affine-linear quadratic game, the value function has the unique solution [33] which should satisfy a set of first order differential equations. The closed form solution for the optimal action of hydro plant is presented through the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.1.** Using the HJB equation, the optimal control policy for the pumpedstorage hydro plant can be obtained as:

$$U_{1}^{*} = -\frac{B_{1}}{R_{H}}\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial X} = -\frac{B_{1}(T_{H}X + \zeta_{H})}{R_{H}}.$$
(3.24)

*Proof.* The value function of the hydro player can be written as:

$$v_1[t] = \frac{1}{2}T_H(t)X(t)^2 + X(t)\zeta_H(t) + \xi_H(t) + m_H(t), \qquad (3.25)$$

where  $T_H(t)$  satisfies the following Riccati differential equations [33]

$$\frac{dT_H}{dt} + 2T_H F_H + Q_H + \frac{T_H^2 B_1^2}{R_H} = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$T_H(T) = Q_H^f, (3.27)$$

and

$$F_H = A - \frac{T_H B_1^2}{R_H}.$$
 (3.28)

 $\zeta_H$  and  $m_H$  can be obtained from the following differential equations, respectively:

$$\frac{d\zeta_H}{dt} + \frac{F_H \zeta_H + T_H \zeta_H B_1^2}{R_H} + T_H B_1 = 0, \qquad (3.29)$$

$$\zeta_H(T) = 0, \tag{3.30}$$

$$\frac{dm_H}{dt} + \alpha_H \zeta_H + \frac{\zeta_H^2 B_1^2}{2R_H} = 0, \qquad (3.31)$$

$$m_H(T) = 0,$$
 (3.32)

and

$$\alpha_H = C - \frac{\zeta_H B_1^2}{R_H}.$$
(3.33)

Finally,  $\xi_H$  satisfies the equation below

$$\frac{d\xi_H}{dt} = -\frac{R_H \sigma^2 U_1}{2}.$$
 (3.34)

The optimal control variable can be obtained as follows:

$$U_{1}^{*} = -\frac{B_{1}}{R_{H}}\frac{\partial v_{1}}{\partial X} = -\frac{B_{1}(T_{H}X + \zeta_{H})}{R_{H}}.$$
(3.35)

# 3.3.2 Thermal Player Payoff Maximization

Next, we determine the optimal strategy of the thermal plant given the optimal strategy of the hydro plant. To optimize the utility in (3.15), the stochastic HJB

equation of the proposed game for the thermal player can be represented by following equation

$$-\frac{\partial v_2}{\partial t} = \max_{U_2} \left\{ \frac{(\rho_2)^2 \sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v_2}{\partial X^2} + \frac{\partial v_2}{\partial X} f(X, U_1^*, U_2) + g_2 \right\}$$
(3.36)

and

$$v_2[X(T)] = h_2[X(T)].$$
 (3.37)

The optimal action for the thermal plant can be obtained through the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.2.** The optimal control policy for the thermal plant can be obtained as follows:

$$U_{2}^{*} = -\frac{B_{2}}{R_{T}}\frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial X} = -\frac{B_{2}(T_{T}X + \zeta_{T})}{R_{T}}.$$
(3.38)

*Proof.* The value function of thermal player can be written as:

$$v_2[t] = \frac{1}{2}T_T(t)X(t)^2 + X(t)\zeta_T(t) + X(t)\xi_T(t) + m_T(t).$$
(3.39)

Here,  $T_T(t)$  satisfies the following Riccati differential equations [33]

$$\frac{dT_T}{dt} + 2T_T F_T + Q_T + \frac{{T_T}^2 B_2^2}{R_T} = 0, \qquad (3.40)$$

$$T_T(T) = Q_T^f, (3.41)$$

and

$$F_T = A - \frac{T_T B_2^2}{R_T}.$$
 (3.42)

 $\zeta_T$  and  $m_T$  can be obtained through similar steps in (3.29)-(3.34):

$$\frac{d\zeta_T}{dt} + \frac{F_T \zeta_T + T_T \zeta_T B_2^2}{R_T} + T_T B_2 = 0, \qquad (3.43)$$

 $\zeta_T(T) = 0, \tag{3.44}$ 

$$\frac{dm_T}{dt} + \alpha_T \zeta_T + \frac{\zeta_T^2 B_2^2}{2R_T} = 0, \qquad (3.45)$$

$$m_T(T) = 0,$$
 (3.46)

$$\alpha_T = C - \frac{\zeta_T B_2^2}{R_T},\tag{3.47}$$

and  $\xi_T$  from the equation below

$$\frac{d\xi_T}{dt} = -\frac{R_T \sigma^2 U_2}{2}.$$
 (3.48)

The optimal control variable can be obtained as follows:

$$U_{2}^{*} = -\frac{B_{2}}{R_{T}}\frac{\partial v_{2}}{\partial X} = -\frac{B_{2}(T_{T}X + \zeta_{T})}{R_{T}}.$$
(3.49)

# 3.3.3 Nash Equilibrium

For a two-person differential game in the form discussed in the previous subsections, a two-tuple strategies constitutes a feedback Nash equilibrium solution [33] as defined below:

**Definition 3.3.** A set of controls  $U_i^*(t, X), i \in 1, 2$  constitute a feedback Nash equilibrium of the game, if there exists functions  $v_i(X, t)$  satisfying the following relations  $\forall i$ :

$$v_i(X,t) = E_w \left[ \int_0^T g_i \{t, X^*(t), U_1^*[t, X(t)], U_2^*[t, X(t)] \} dt \right]$$
(3.50)  

$$\geq E_w \left[ \int_0^T g_i \{t, X^{[i]}(t), U_i[s, X(s)], U_{j\neq i}^*[t, X(t)] \} dt \right],$$

where

$$\frac{dX^{[i]}(t)}{dt} = f\{t, X^{[i]}(t), U_i[t, X(t)], U_{j\neq i}^*[t, X(t)]\}$$
(3.51)

and

$$\frac{dX^*(s)}{dt} = f\{t, X^*(t), U_1^*[t, X(t)], U_2^*[t, X(t)]\}.$$
(3.52)

If there exists the value functions that are twice continuously differentiable, then the two partial differential feedback Nash equilibrium solutions in continuous time can be characterized using the stochastic HJB equations [33], which are necessary conditions of the candidate optimal control strategy. The feedback Nash equilibrium is defined as follows (Theorem 6.27[33]):

**Theorem 3.4.** A set of feedback strategies  $U_i^*(t, X^*)$  lead to a feedback Nash equilibrium solution to the game, and  $X^*(t), 0 \le t \le T$  is the corresponding state trajectory, if there exist suitably smooth functions  $V_i$  satisfying the following rectilinear parabolic partial differential equations:

$$-\frac{\partial v_i(X,t)}{\partial t} = \max_{U_i(t,X)} \left\{ \frac{(\rho_2)^2 \sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v_i(X,t)}{\partial X^2} + \frac{\partial v_i(X,t)}{\partial X} f[t,X,U_i,U_{j\neq i}^*] + g_i[t,X,U_i,U_{j\neq i}^*] \right\}.$$
(3.53)

Lemma 3.5. The feedback Nash equilibrium exists for the proposed game in (3.17), (3.18), (3.19), (3.20), and (3.21).

*Proof.* Since the value functions in equations (3.25) and (3.39) are twice continuously differentiable, the derived optimal solution by HJB equations characterize the feedback Nash equilibrium solutions.



Figure 3.2: Daily demand D(t) versus market price based on data from [57].

## 3.4 Simulation Results

In this section, to clarify the game analysis results derived in Section 3.3, we investigate the performance of the proposed game numerically. The simulations are performed for each hour in a one-day duration. The thermal and pumped-storage plants have the maximum generation capacities of 500MW and 300MW, respectively. Other parameters are set as follows:  $\beta = 0.05$ ,  $\rho_0 = 3.4 * 10^{-4}$ ,  $\rho_1 = 3.83 * 10^{-5}$ ,  $\rho_2 = 0.001$ ,  $\sigma^2 = 0.5$ ,  $\eta_1 = 0.9$ ,  $\eta_2 = 0.96$ ,  $x^{\dagger} = 550Mm^3$ ,  $r_h^{\dagger} = 103 * 10^{-1}\frac{m^3}{s}$ ,  $x_{max} = 717Mm^3$  and  $\epsilon_2 = \epsilon_1 = \epsilon_0 = 0.5$ . The above characteristic values for the hydro plant's reservoir are selected based on [56]. The constant price K for thermal player to sell to the hydro player is assumed to be equal to 100000, unless we otherwise define. Figure 3.2 shows fluctuations of total demand D according to [57], and how the market price per Watt ( $\{D - p_H(t) - p_T^g(t)\}$ ) is affected accordingly. Notice that the market price can be affected by many other players in the market. Here we consider only the thermal and hydro players so that the interactions can be clearly demonstrated.

In Figure 3.3, the pumped-storage plant generation amount  $(p_H)$  and thermal



Figure 3.3: Comparison of the output power versus K.

plant generation decision  $(p_T^g)$  are compared over time. The amount of generation of the thermal plant and pumped-storage plant both follow the fluctuations of demand. However, compared with the demand in Figure 3.2, the thermal player has less fluctuation, and the hydro (pumped storage plant) player compensates for the fluctuation. This can help practical operations since the thermal player has a slow response to meet the demand's fluctuations. Also, we change the price per Watt of the electricity that the thermal plant sells power to the pumped-storage plant, Kfrom 100000 to 300000. By increasing K the thermal plant finds selling its output power to the pumped-storage plant more beneficial than selling it to the market. Therefore, the amount of power that the thermal plant generates for selling to the market decreases and the generation of pumped-storage plant increases, respectively to satisfy the demand.

The reservoir volume and water discharge rate of the pumped-storage plant in each hour is shown in Figure 3.4. Comparing with Figure 3.3, the reservoir volume varies with the generation value of the pumped-storage plant. For instance when the plant decides to increase its output power, the discharge rate increases and the



Figure 3.4: Reservoir volume and discharge rate.

reservoir level decays. When K increases, the volume drops and the discharge rate increases. Moreover, notice that the power generation is a function of both reservoir volume and water discharge rate.

In Figure 3.5, the payoffs of power plants from equations (3.11)-(3.14) are compared for different values of K. For all scenarios, the variations of the payoff functions are correlated to the changes in the plants outputs and the market values. Accordingly, by increasing K the thermal plant's payoff increases and that of the pumpedstorage decreases.

In Figure 3.6, the peak to average ratios of thermal and pumped-storage output power are depicted as K varies. As the price per Watt from the pumped-storage plant increases, the thermal plant prefers to sell its output to the pumped-storage plant rather than to sell it to the market price. Consequently, the peak to average ratio of the thermal plant decreases by increasing K from from 100000 to 400000. This also demonstrates that the proposed framework can reduce the peak to average ratio of the thermal plant by introducing the pricing mechanism between the thermal and hydro players.



Figure 3.5: Comparison of payoff versus K.

Figure 3.7 shows comparison of the output power of thermal and pumped-storage plants as the mean of stochastic inflow to reservoir varies. Increasing the mean of incoming water with constant variance increases the output of the pumped-storage plant. This provides a guidance for the system to operate during the dry and wet seasons.

The average output power of the thermal and pumped-storage plant in two scenarios is shown in Figure 3.8. In the first scenario, it is assumed that there is no interaction between two power plants, and they just sell their outputs to the market (K = 0). In the second scenario, plants are networked with suggested price from pumped-storage plant (K = 200000). It can be seen that the later case, increases the participation of pumped-storage plant in demand satisfaction and reduces the thermal's one, which yields a greener choice compared to the first scenario.



Figure 3.6: Comparison of output power peak to average ratio versus K.

# 3.5 Summary

In this chapter, we studied the problem of optimal generation and storage for two types of competitive power plants in smart grid networks. We have proposed a stochastic dynamic game approach to model their competition. The market price is based on the Cournot duopoly game model. The thermal power player can sell its power to the hydropower player at a fixed price or to the market at the market price. Based on the stochastic HJB equation, we derive the strategies for both players if the other's action is fixed. We showed that there exists the feedback Nash equilibrium strategies for the proposed game. Simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and suggest how the two types of power plants need to adjust their generating and storage decision variables to maximize their revenues. It is demonstrated that the proposed framework and games can reduce the peak to average ratio and total energy generation for the thermal plant, which helps power plant operation and reduces CO2 emission.



Figure 3.7: Power output versus mean of incoming water to the reservoir.



Figure 3.8: 1-Two plants are not networked, 2-Two plants are networked.

### Chapter4

## **Distributed Dynamic Control for Smart Buildings**

#### 4.1 Introduction

Demand Response (DR) programs are implemented by utility companies to control the energy consumption at the customer side of the meter. Two popular DR approaches are direct load control (DLC) and smart pricing. In DLC [60, 61, 62, 63], an aggregator can remotely control the operations and energy consumption of certain consumer appliances. In contrast, in smart pricing, users are encouraged to individually and voluntarily manage their load, e.g., by reducing their consumption at peak price hours. This can be done using automated Energy Consumption Scheduling (ECS) devices [64]. For each user, the ECS finds the best load schedule to minimize the user's electricity cost while fulfilling the user energy needs. This can lead to autonomous demand response programs that burden a minimal control overhead on utilities.

A common analytical tool to study autonomous DR systems is game theory [65], that provides a framework to study rational interactions and outcome in a distributed manner. In [66], a stochastic game is developed to model an hourly energy auction in which generators and consumers participate as adaptive agents.

In [67], authors proposed a game theoretic demand response scheme to replace traditional centralized load prediction with a distributed load prediction system that involves user participation. Authors in [68] employed the Cournot game model to analyze the market effect of a demand response aggregator on both shifting and reducing deferrable loads. Authors in [69] developed a hybrid day-ahead and realtime consumption scheduling for a number of houses that participate in a demand side program based on game theory. The interaction between the service provider and the users is modeled as a Stackelberg game in [70] to derive the optimal real-time electricity price and each user's optimal power consumption. In [71], a residential energy consumption scheduling framework is proposed, which attempts to achieve a desired trade-off between minimizing the electricity payment and minimizing the waiting time for the operation of household appliance in presence of real-time prices using price prediction. In [72], game theory is used for demand side management to reduce the peak-to-average-ratio in aggregate load demand. In [30], a tutorial is given for the game-theoretic methods on microgrid systems, demand-side management, and smart grid communications.

Different from the prior work in [66]-[30], in this paper, we focus on game-theoretic analysis of price-based DR programs where controllable load types are associated with *dynamic systems* and can be modeled using differential equations. Examples of such loads include heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC), water heating, refrigeration, and plug-in electric vehicles. In particular, we apply techniques from stochastic differential games [33]. To the best of our knowledge, this paper is the first work to study differential games in the context of price-based DR programs. The contributions in this chapter can be summarized as follows:

- 1. We study the strategic interactions between a Nash Cournot electricity market and multiple energy-smart buildings to construct a two-level stochastic differential game framework. At the upper level, the market offers a vector of hourly prices to end users. At the lower level, the energy-smart buildings as the lower level participate in demand response by managing controllable dynamic load in response to hourly prices set by the market.
- 2. We focus on smart buildings equipped with renewable resources generators, local energy storage and controllable HVAC units, in which users are able to respond to real-time grid conditions like electricity prices and weather conditions in order to minimize their cost.

- 3. We derive the optimal closed-form control strategies for each energy-smart building obtained by solving stochastic the Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation. We analyze the outcome of interactions between two levels and constitute a feedback Nash equilibrium solution.
- 4. The proposed technique comparing with the day-ahead pricing method, makes the load profile more flat and reduces the peak-to-average ratio (PAR) of aggregate load.
- 5. Using simulation results we show that by implementing our proposed stochastic differential DR game model, we can minimize the electricity cost of buildings.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. The system model is described in Section 4.2. The stochastic differential game is constructed and it solution to the proposed game is derived in Section 4.3. Simulation results are presented in Section 4.4. Conclusions are drawn in Section 4.5.

## 4.2 System Model

In this section, we explain the system model that incorporates the impact of demand response on both supply and demand sides when real-time pricing is used. As illustrated in Figure 4.1, we study a two-level design framework: at the upper level, at the beginning of each time interval, e.g., at each hour, the market decides on a price to pass on to the end-users in the lower level, based on the total demand data from the lower level during the last time interval. The ECS unit of each building minimizes the cost of electricity consumption. Since there are multiple buildings competing for the electricity resources, the system can be analyzed using game theory [65].

## 4.2.1 Smart Building Consumers

Consider a total of N energy-smart buildings that participate in demand response program. Each building has two specific controllable loads: an air conditioner with a controllable thermostat, and an always-connected battery. We also assume that a renewable source of energy, e.g., a residential wind turbine or a roof-top solar panel, is available in each building, with its generated output to be used to charge the battery. Uncontrollable appliances with a total and known consumption of l(t) constitute the rest of the building power consumption. Given the price that is a function of the optimal strategy of the upper level player, the decision variables available for consumers at each building  $i = 1, \ldots, N$  are:

> $u_1^i$  = power draw from battery for home usage and  $u_2^i$  = air conditioner usage of electricity.

And the dynamic *states* include:

 $x_1^i$  = the energy stored in the battery array and  $x_2^i$  = the indoor temperature of home.

The output power of the renewable generator is indeed random. In our analysis, it is modeled as  $W + e^i$ , where W is the renewable output prediction that is obtained using a day-ahead forecasting method and  $e^i$  denotes the prediction error which is a Gaussian random variable with zero mean and variance  $\sigma^2$ . As an example, the amount of power generated by a wind turbine can be modeled as a function of wind speed. As for the outside temperature, we assume that its day-ahead predictions are used based on standard weather forecasting data. For each smart building, the



Figure 4.1: The interactions between the aggergator and individual buildings.

dynamics of the states can be modeled using the following differential equations:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_1^i \\ \dot{x}_2^i \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\beta^i & 0 \\ 0 & (\epsilon^i - 1) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1^i \\ x_2^i \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -\gamma^i (1 - \epsilon^i) K^i \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} u_1^i \\ u_2^i \end{bmatrix} +$$
(4.1)
$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} W + \begin{bmatrix} e^i \\ (1 - \epsilon^i) t_{OD}^i \end{bmatrix}.$$

The differential equation in the first row in (4.1) models the dynamic of the battery's state-of-charge. The differential equation in the second row models the variation in the building's indoor temperature. Here,  $\beta^i$  denotes the battery leakage rate. As the battery dynamic equation shows the output of renewable resource  $W + e^i$  acts as the input to the battery, and the amount of power that is discharged for usage in the building acts as the output of battery.

The thermal model in (4.1) is based on the a building thermal model in [73]. Here,  $\epsilon^{i}$  is the factor of inertia of the building which is a function of time constant of the building and overall thermal conductivity,  $\gamma^{i}$  is a factor capturing the efficiency of the air conditioning unit to cool the air inside the building,  $t_{OD}^{i}$  is the outside temperature and  $K^{I}$  is a constant that is depends on the performance of the air conditioning unit and the total thermal mass. The air conditioning unit uses power  $u_{2}^{i}$  to cool down the home's indoor temperature. Note that, in this model, our focus is only on the cooling scenario. The results for the heating scenario are similar and can be obtained by changing the sign of  $-\gamma i(1-\epsilon^{i})K^{i}$  from negative to positive. At the beginning of each time interval<sup>1</sup>, given the  $M \times 1$  demand vector  $\mathbf{U}_{D}$  from all N feeders that all buildings are connected to, a grid operator checks total available generation in the market and determines the price. Considering an estimated quadratic cost function for the oligopolistic electricity market [74], yields the electricity spot price as a linear function of aggregated building consumptions[75]. This model would help to study the impact of large-scale buildings' power generation and consumption on spot price as follows:

$$p = p_c + \frac{\left[\sum_{j=1}^N d^j - \sum_{j=1}^G g^j\right]}{\alpha},$$
(4.2)

where  $p_c$  is a constant price factor decided by market,  $d^j$  and  $g^j$  are the electricity consumption and generation of building j respectively and  $\alpha$  is a scalar parameter. Increasing  $\alpha$  reduces the impact of buildings on spot price. From Section 4.2.1, for each smart building i, the total power consumption can be calculated as

$$d^{i} = l^{i} - u_{1}^{i} + u_{2}^{i}. (4.3)$$

A price factor which can be defined as

$$\tau^{i} = \sum_{j \neq i}^{N} d^{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{G} g^{j}$$
(4.4)

is reported from the aggregator to the ECS device of building i hourly. Given the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Without loss of generality, we assume the time intervals is one hour in this paper. Other time interval can be implemented in a similar way

hourly price information from market including  $p_{const}$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $\tau^i$ , the management unit can estimate the price.

## 4.3 Differential Game Analysis

If a centralized control of all buildings is feasible, then one can formulate a stochastic dynamic optimization problem to control the operation of the battery storage and air conditioner units in all buildings so as to maximize the aggregate utility of all users. For each user, the utility function depends on both the cost of electricity and how comfortable the temperature feels like. An alternative approach is to use game theory to a distributed optimization framework to be implemented by each smart building using just local information and is able to address some of our key optimization challenges such as a) The heterogeneous nature of building ECS systems. b) The complexity of interactions among smart buildings. c) The non-linear the formulated optimization problems. Note that, centralized optimization across all buildings is not practical due to the need for collecting private information.

Next we explain our proposed dynamic game formulation and discuss some of its properties. In particular, we prove that the optimal solutions constitute a feedback Nash equilibrium for the formulated game.

## 4.3.1 Game Formulation

For each time t, the stochastic dynamic game of each smart building i is to control the battery output used for building usage,  $u_1^i(t)$ , and the air conditioner electricity usage,  $u_2^i(t)$ , so as to minimize the cost. We model the cost at time t as a quadratic function of the building power consumption:

$$\mu^{i}[u_{1}^{i}(t), u_{2}^{i}(t)] =$$

$$p(t)[l^{i}(t) - u_{1}^{i}(t) + u_{2}^{i}(t)] + \eta[x_{2}^{1}(t) - x_{d}]^{2} =$$

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}[\alpha p_{c} + \sum_{i=1}^{N}(l^{i}(t) - u_{1}^{i}(t) + u_{2}^{i}(t) - g^{i}(t))]$$

$$[l^{i}(t) - u_{1}^{i}(t) + u_{2}^{i}(t)] + \eta^{i}[x_{2}^{i}(t) - x_{d}^{i}]^{2},$$

$$(4.5)$$

where the first term represents the cost of the building electricity consumption, and the second term models penalty of temperature differences from the desired value,  $t_d$ . By minimizing the objective function in (4.5), we achieve the optimal policies that can balance the trade-off between user comfort and electricity cost minimization by controlling the HVAC usage and local energy storage, given the current states of the system which follows the dynamics in (4.1).

Next, we introduce the expected utility function of each building over the random nature of renewable energy during a time period of interest, e.g., one day, as follows:

$$L^{i} = E_{w} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \mu^{i}(t) dt + h^{i}[x(T)] \right\},$$
(4.6)

where h[x(T)] is the terminal condition for value function. The value function of  $u_1^1(t)$ and  $u_2^1(t)$  can be written as

$$v^{i}(x,t) = \min_{u_{1}^{i}(t), u_{2}^{i}(t)} L.$$
(4.7)

Without loss of generality, we assume that

$$h^{i}[x(T)] = v^{i}(x,T) = 0.$$
(4.8)

To convert our stochastic differential optimization problem into a linear quadratic

format, we use changes of variables

$$\mathbf{X} = [x_1^1, x_2^1, x_1^2, x_2^2, \dots, x_1^i, x_2^i - x_d, x_1^n, x_2^n]^T$$
(4.9)

and

$$\mathbf{U}^{\mathbf{i}} = [u_{1}^{1} - \frac{\sum_{j\neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}, -u_{1}^{2} - \frac{\sum_{j\neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)} \quad (4.10)$$
  
$$\dots, u_{1}^{i} - \frac{l^{i}}{2}, -u_{2}^{i} - \frac{l^{i}}{2}, \dots,$$
  
$$u_{1}^{n} - \frac{\sum_{j\neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}, -u_{2}^{n} - \frac{\sum_{j\neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}].$$

As a result, the game dynamics can be written in matrix form as follows:

$$\dot{\mathbf{X}} = f[\mathbf{X}(t), \mathbf{U}(t)] + \rho \mathbf{W}$$
$$= \mathbf{A}\mathbf{X}(t) + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{U}(t) + \mathbf{C} + \rho \mathbf{W}, \qquad (4.11)$$

where

$$\mathbf{A} = \begin{bmatrix} -\beta^{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \epsilon^{1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\beta^{2} & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \epsilon^{2} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -\beta^{n} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \epsilon^{n} \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}$$
(4.12)

$$\mathbf{B} = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & -\gamma^{1} K^{1} (1 - \epsilon^{1}) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -\gamma^{n} K^{n} (1 - \epsilon^{n}) \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}, \quad (4.13)$$

$$\mathbf{C} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{1} + \frac{l^{1}}{2} \\ (1 - \epsilon^{1})(t_{OD}^{1} + \frac{\gamma^{1}K^{1}(l^{1})}{2}) + \epsilon^{1}x_{d}^{1} \\ \vdots \\ e^{n} + \frac{l^{n}}{2} \\ (1 - \epsilon^{n})(t_{OD}^{n} + \frac{\gamma^{n}K^{n}(l^{n})}{2}) + \epsilon^{n}x_{d}^{n} \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 1},$$
(4.14)

and

$$\rho = \left[1, 0, 1, \dots, 1, 0\right]_{1 \times 2n}^{T}$$
(4.15)

The cost function in (4.5) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\mu^{i}[\mathbf{X}(t), \mathbf{U}(t)] = \frac{1}{2} [\mathbf{X}(t)^{T} \mathbf{Q}_{s}^{i} \mathbf{X}(t) + \mathbf{U}(t)^{T} \mathbf{R}^{i}(t) \mathbf{U}(t)].$$
(4.16)

Finally, for the value function in (4.7), we have:

$$v^{i}(X,t) = \min_{\mathbf{U}(t)} L \qquad (4.17)$$
$$= \min_{\mathbf{U}(t)} E_{w} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \mu^{i}[\mathbf{X}(t),\mathbf{U}(t)]dt + h^{i}[\mathbf{X}(T)] \right\},$$

where

$$h^{i}[\mathbf{X}(T)] = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{X}^{T} \mathbf{Q}_{sf}^{i} \mathbf{X}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{i}}(t) = \frac{1}{\alpha} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & \dots & 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}$$
(4.19)

and

$$\mathbf{Q}_{s}^{i}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & \eta & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n}$$
(4.20)

The stochastic differential optimization problem in (4.17)-(4.20) has an affine quadratic format. Next, we use dynamic programming to derive the optimal control solution for each building.

## 4.3.2 Solution Based on Dynamic Programming

Differential games are the extension of the basic optimal control problem and their analysis relies heavily on concepts and techniques in optimal control theory [33]. Equilibrium strategies in the feedback form are best studied by looking at a system of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equations for the value functions of various players. Using dynamic programming, the solution is obtained backwards in time. That is, we start at all possible final states with the corresponding final times. The optimal action at each final time is selected, we then proceed back one step in time and determine the optimal action at each stage. This process is repeated until the initial time or stage is reached. The core of dynamic programming when it is applied to continuous-time optimal control is the partial differential equation (PDE) of an HJB formulation.

Now consider the stochastic control problem in the stochastic control problem in (4.17)-(4.20) can be derived using the stochastic HJB equation [33]:

$$-\frac{\partial v^i}{\partial t} = \min_{\mathbf{U}^i(t)} \{ \frac{\sigma^2}{2} \frac{\partial^2 v^i(\mathbf{X}, t)}{\partial X^2} + \nabla_X v^i(\mathbf{X}, t) f^i[\mathbf{X}(t), \mathbf{U}(t)] + \mu^i[\mathbf{X}(t), \mathbf{U}(t)] \}.$$

The HJB equation above is a sufficient condition to obtain the optimal solutions. If our value function solves this partial differential equation, then the optimal controls that achieve the minimum cost can be readily obtained from the value function. In general, the HJB equation does not have a classical (smooth) solution. Although some efforts have been made in the past, e.g., to obtain the viscosity solution [76], or the minimax solution [77]. However, for the special case of a affine-linear quadratic game, where the system dynamics are described by a set of linear differential equations and the cost function is quadratic, the value function has the unique solution which should satisfy a set of first order differential equations. Therefore, a closed form solution for the optimal action can be obtained for this special case.

According to [33], the value function for an affine-linear quadratic problem has

the following solution for v(t):

$$v^{i}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{X}(t)^{T} \mathbf{Z}^{i}(t) \mathbf{X}(t) + \mathbf{X}(t)^{T} \zeta^{i}(t) + \xi^{i}(t) + \mathbf{m}^{i}(t), \qquad (4.21)$$

where  $\mathbf{Z}^i$  satisfies the following Riccati differential equations:

$$\dot{\mathbf{Z}}^{i} + \mathbf{Z}^{i} \check{\mathbf{F}}^{i} + \check{\mathbf{F}}^{i}^{T} \mathbf{Z}^{i} + \mathbf{Z}^{i} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{R}^{i^{-1}} \mathbf{B}^{T} \mathbf{Z}^{i} + \mathbf{Q}^{i}_{s} = 0, \qquad (4.22)$$

$$\mathbf{Z}^{i}(T) = \mathbf{0}_{2n \times 2n},\tag{4.23}$$

where

$$\check{\mathbf{F}}^{i} = \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B}\mathbf{R}^{i^{-1}}\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Z}^{i}.$$
(4.24)

 $\zeta^i$  and  $\mathbf{m}^i$  can be obtained from the following differential equations, respectively:

$$\dot{\zeta}^{i} + \check{\mathbf{F}}^{i} \zeta^{i} + \mathbf{Z}^{i} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{R}^{i^{-1}} \mathbf{B}^{T} \zeta^{i} + \mathbf{Z}^{i} \mathbf{B}^{i} = 0, \qquad (4.25)$$

$$\zeta^i(T) = 0_{2n \times 2n},\tag{4.26}$$

 $\mathbf{m}^{i}(T) = 0$ , and  $\mathbf{m}^{i}$  is obtained from:

$$\dot{\mathbf{m}}^{i} + \gamma^{iT} \zeta^{i} + \frac{1}{2} \zeta^{i} \mathbf{B} \mathbf{R}^{i-1} \mathbf{B}^{T} \zeta^{i} = 0$$
(4.27)

and

$$\gamma^{i} = \mathbf{c}' - \mathbf{B}\mathbf{R}^{i^{-1}}\mathbf{B}^{T}\zeta^{i}.$$
(4.28)

Finally, the optimal control strategy can be obtained as

$$\mathbf{U}^{i^{*}}(t,X) = -\alpha \mathbf{R}^{i}(t)^{-1} \mathbf{B}(t)^{T} \nabla_{\mathbf{X}} \mathbf{v}^{i}(t,\mathbf{X})^{T}$$

$$= -\alpha \mathbf{R}^{i}(t)^{-1} \mathbf{B}(t)^{T} \left\{ \frac{\mathbf{X}(t)^{T} [(\mathbf{Z}^{i})^{T} + \mathbf{Z}^{i}]}{2} + \zeta^{i^{T}} \right\}.$$

$$(4.29)$$

For the proposed game in (4.11)-(4.17),  $\mathbf{R}^{i}$ , i = 1, ..., N, matrices in (4.19) are singular block matrices (therefore non-invertible). Using the Singular Value Decomposition (SVD) factorization method, we have  $\mathbf{R}^{i} = \mathbf{E}^{i} \mathbf{\Sigma}^{i} \mathbf{T}^{i^{*}}$ , where  $\mathbf{E}^{i}$  is a real unitary matrix,  $\mathbf{\Sigma}^{i}$  is a rectangular diagonal matrix with singular values of  $\mathbf{R}^{i}$  on the diagonal, and  $\mathbf{T}^{i^{*}}$  (the conjugate transpose of  $\mathbf{T}^{i}$ ) is a real unitary matrix. Using SVD factorization, a Moore–pseudoinverse of matrix  $\mathbf{R}^{i}$  can be calculated as  $\mathbf{R}^{i^{+}} = \mathbf{T}^{i} \mathbf{\Sigma}^{i^{+}} \mathbf{E}^{i^{*}}$ .

Using Moore–Penrose pseudoinverse of matrix  $\mathbf{R}^{i}$  in (4.29), the following Lemma shows that player *i* does not need knowledge of other players' states.

**Lemma 4.1.** For each player *i*, the associated columns of the other players in Moore-Penrose pseudoinverse matrix of  $\mathbf{R}^i$  are zeros.

*Proof.* For each player i, matrix  $\mathbf{R}^i$  is written as follows:

$$\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{i}}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & \dots & 1 & 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & \dots & 1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \dots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{2n \times 2n},$$

$$(4.30)$$

where all rows are zeros except row i and i + 1. According to Theorem 3 in [82], if matrix A is partitioned row-wise as  $\mathbf{A} = (\mathbf{A}_1 :: \mathbf{A}_2)^T$ , the matrix M of form
$\mathbf{M} = (\mathbf{A}_1^+ \mathbf{A}_2^+) = \mathbf{A}^+$  if the following relationships are satisfied:

$$\mathbf{A}_1^+ \mathbf{A}_2 = 0, \quad \mathbf{A}_2^+ \mathbf{A}_1 = 0,$$
 (4.31)

$$(\mathbf{A}_1\mathbf{A}_1^+)^*(\mathbf{A}_2\mathbf{A}_2^+)^* = 0, (4.32)$$

and

$$\mathbf{A}_1 \mathbf{A}_1^+ \mathbf{A}_2 \mathbf{A}_2^+ = 0. \tag{4.33}$$

Matrix  $\mathbf{R}^{i}$  can have 3 case of row-wise decomposition : 1) non zeros columns are in matrix  $\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i}$  and matrix  $\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i}$  is a zero  $n \times n$  matrix; 2) non zeros columns are in matrix  $\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i}$  and matrix  $\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i}$  is a zero  $n \times n$  matrix; 3) both  $\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i}$  and  $\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i}$  matrices have just one non-zero rows. For all these 3 cases, the necessary conditions in (4.31-4.33) are satisfied. Therefore  $\mathbf{R}^{i+} = (\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i+}\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i+})$ . For all 3 cases, zero rows in  $\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i}$  and  $\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i}$  are associated with zero columns in  $\mathbf{R}_{1}^{i+}$  and  $\mathbf{R}_{2}^{i+}$ . Therefore, all columns in  $\mathbf{R}^{i+}$  except column i and i+1 are zeros and cancel out the state information of the other players but player i.

After calculation of optimal actions from (4.29), to obtain the original optimal control decisions  $\mathbf{u}^*$ , the following change of variables should be used:

$$\mathbf{u}^{*} = \left[U_{1}^{1} + \frac{\sum_{j \neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}, \quad (4.34) - \left(U_{1}^{2} + \frac{\sum_{j \neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}\right), \dots, U_{1}^{i} + \frac{l^{i}}{2}, -\left(U_{2}^{i} + \frac{l^{i}}{2}\right) - \left(U_{2}^{i} + \frac{\sum_{j \neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}, -\left(U_{2}^{n} + \frac{\sum_{j \neq i}^{n} l^{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} g^{i} + \alpha p_{c}}{2(n-1)}\right)\right].$$

 Table 4.1: Building consumption scheduling algorithm

For each hour $t=1:24$
Update the market price.
Compute $\zeta$ using (4.25).
Compute vector of optimal decisions, $U^*$ , according to (4.29).
Use change of variables in $(4.34)$ to transform $U^*$ to $u^*$ .
Update the total hourly demand according $q^i$ .
Send back the total hourly demand to the market.
End

Next, each building reports its total consumptions to the upper level, and the market makes its decisions based on the total bus load vector  $\mathbf{U}_D = [U_{D1}, ..., U_{DM}]^T$ , where  $U_{Dj} = \sum_{j=1}^{n_j} q^j$ . Here, M and  $n_j$  are the total number of feeders and the total number of buildings connected to bus j, respectively. In summary, the daily building load control algorithm is shown in Table 4.1.

#### 4.3.3 Properties and Discussion

In this section we show that the optimal control solution constitutes a feedback Nash Equilibrium to the stochastic differential game.

The N-person differential game discussed in Section 4.3.2 can be rewritten in the following form for each player i, where  $i = 1, \dots, N$ :

$$\dot{\mathbf{X}^{i}} = f[\mathbf{X}^{i}(\mathbf{t}), \mathbf{U}^{i}(t)] + \rho \mathbf{W}$$
$$= \mathbf{A}\mathbf{X}^{i}(t) + \mathbf{B}\mathbf{U}^{i}(t) + \mathbf{C} + \rho \mathbf{W}$$
(4.35)

and

$$v^{i}(X^{i},t) = \min_{\mathbf{U}(t)} L \qquad (4.36)$$
$$= \min_{\mathbf{U}(t)} E_{w} \left\{ \int_{0}^{T} \mu^{i} [\mathbf{X}^{i}(t), \mathbf{U}(t)] dt + h[\mathbf{X}^{i}(T)] \right\},$$

where

$$\mathbf{U}^{i}(t) = [U_{1}^{i}, U_{2}^{i}]^{T} \tag{4.37}$$

and

$$\mathbf{U}(t) = [U_1^1(t), U_2^1(t), \dots, U_1^i(t), U_2^i(t), \dots, U_1^N(t), U_2^N(t)]^T.$$
(4.38)

For this game, the *N*-tuple strategies that are defined below constitute a feedback Nash equilibrium solution [33].

**Definition 4.2.** For an n-person game as defined in (4.35)-(4.38), a set of controls  $U^*(t, \mathbf{X}), \forall i = 1, ..., N$ , constitutes a feedback Nash equilibrium of the formulated dynamic game if there exists functions  $v^i(\mathbf{X}, t), \forall i = 1, ..., N$ , that satisfy the following relations:

$$v_i(\mathbf{X}, t) = E_w \left[ \int_0^T \mu^i \left\{ t, \mathbf{X}^*(t), \mathbf{U}^* \right\} dt \right]$$
  
 
$$\geq E_w \left[ \int_0^T \mu^i \left\{ t, \mathbf{X}(t), \mathbf{U} \right\} dt \right],$$

where

$$\mathbf{U} = [U_1^{1*}, U_2^{1*}, \cdots, U_1^i, U_2^i, \cdots, U_1^{N*}, U_2^{N*}]$$
(4.39)

and

$$\mathbf{U}^* = [U_1^{1*}, U_2^{1*}, \cdots, U_1^{i*}, U_2^{i*}, \cdots, U_1^{N*}, U_2^{N*}].$$
(4.40)

If there exists a function  $v^i(\mathbf{X}, t)$  that is twice continuously differentiable, then the two partial differential feedback Nash equilibrium solutions in continuous time can be characterized using the stochastic HJB equations, which are necessary conditions of

bus 1	bus 2	bus 3	bus 4	bus 5	bus 6	bus 7
0	2100	9400	4800	760	1120	0
bus 8	bus 9	bus 10	bus 11	bus 12	bus 13	bus 14
0	2950	900	350	6100	1350	1490

 Table 4.2: Number of buildings connected to each Bus.

the candidate optimal control strategy. This is summarized in the following theorem [33].

**Theorem 4.3.** A set of feedback strategies  $U^*(\mathbf{X}, t)$  leads to a feedback Nash equilibrium for stochastic differential game in (4.35)-(4.38), and  $X^*(t), 0 \le t \le T$  is the corresponding state trajectory, if there exist suitably smooth functions  $v^i(t)$ , for i = 1, ..., N satisfying the following rectilinear parabolic partial differential equations:

$$-\frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{X},t)}{\partial t} = \min_{\mathbf{U}^{i}(t)} \left\{ \frac{(\rho_{2})^{2} \sigma^{2}}{2} \frac{\partial^{2} v^{i}(\mathbf{X},t)}{\partial \mathbf{X}^{2}} + \frac{\partial v^{i}(\mathbf{X},t)}{\partial \mathbf{X}} \right.$$
$$f[t, \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{U}^{[i]}(t)] + \mu^{i}[t, \mathbf{X}, \mathbf{U}^{*}(t)] \right\}.$$
(4.41)

Next, to prove that our proposed game has the feedback Nash equilibrium, we note that the differential game in (4.11)-(4.17) is in the affine linear form. Therefore, the value function in (4.21) is twice continuously differentiable and the derived optimal solutions by the HJB equations can indeed characterize the feedback Nash equilibrium.

#### 4.4 Simulation Results

In this section, we numerically investigate the performance of the proposed stochastic differential game to confirm and complement the results presented in the previous sections. Consider the IEEE 14-bus test system in Figure 4.2, where the load at each bus is the summation of several homogeneous smart building load at that bus. The



Figure 4.2: The fourteen bus system studied in simulations.

number of buildings that are connected to each bus is shown in Table 4.2. The bus and the line parameters are set according to the model in [78]. According to [79], the lead-acid batteries which are suitable for energy-smart buildings are generally 85-95 % efficient. Therefore, for simulation purposes the value for the leakage rate of the batteries is considered to be  $\beta = 0.05$ . The value for  $\epsilon$  as the factor of inertia of the building is a function of the time constant of the building which can be defined as the energy stored per unit area in the construction per unit change in heat flux. Finally, the overall thermal conductivity is calculated based on the real data for a typical building in Texas provided by [80] as 0.5. The price factors in equation (4.2) are set as  $p_c = 0.055$ \$KWh and  $\alpha = 1$ .

To study how the proposed demand response method affects electricity scheduling at the buildings level, we compare the performance of our algorithm with a more realistic day-ahead pricing scenario. In the day ahead pricing scenario, the 24-hour price profile is assumed to be known to the ECS from day before and taken from real data [80] of one day consumption as shown in Figure 4.3. We also show the real-time pricing in the same figure. For simplicity, we focus on one building at bus number 2 as an example. The outdoor temperature, the mean of wind turbine output, and the uncontrollable load are depicted in Figure 4.4(a), Figure 4.4(b) and Figure 4.4(c),



Figure 4.3: Daily price for two pricing scenarios.

respectively [80].

In Figures 4.5(a) and 4.5(b), the daily states of the considered building for the mentioned three methods are depicted. For all three scenarios, as price tends to increase, the battery tends to discharge in order to cover a portion of the building power consumption. Furthermore, the indoor temperature tends to increase due to lowering the air conditioner's load during peak hours. We can also see that, for all scenarios, the variations of both battery level and the indoor temperature are correlated to the changes in price values. Here, the average usage from the battery reduces by around 10% for real-time pricing in peak hours (18-20) compared to the day-ahead pricing case.

Next, we compare our proposed joint real-time pricing at upper level and demand response at lower level, with the two other design scenarios. The corresponding daily load profiles are shown in 4.6. For both day-ahead and real-time pricing techniques, the peak load is reduced at around 8:00 PM. However, the use of the proposed realtime pricing technique yields a more flat load shape compared to other methods.

Figure 4.7 studies how the PAR in aggregate load varies as the mean of the daily outdoor temperature increases for three pricing scenarios. As it is shown in Figure

	Real-time Pricing	Day-ahead Pricing
Market Profit (\$)	48609	48741
Average Building's Cost (\$)	229	241

Table 4.3: Average daily market profit vs. building's cost

4.6 compared to the other technique, the proposed real pricing technique makes the load curve more flat. Therefore, the PAR of associated load curve is also have the least value. Due to the fact under high temperature, users tend to let AC unit stay on for longer time, e.g., even at night when the load is low. Consequently, the PAR decreases as the temperature increases, roughly in form of a linear function.

The mean daily cost of the considered building versus the mean daily outdoor temperature are shown in Figure 4.8. We can see that the real-time pricing combined with the proposed stochastic differential game can reduce the daily cost. The price value under the real-time pricing has higher gradient since all building users increase their power consumption in the case of a high temperature, which results in a higher price. Moreover, when the temperature is high, the HVAC units are needed to stay functioning in order to keep the indoor temperature in the comfort range of users. Therefore, there is no major difference among different algorithms in this case as Figure 4.8 suggests.

The average daily market profit versus the building's costs are compared in Table 4.3. The profit is calculated as the total market revenue reduced from the total generation cost. The generation cost per hour is calculated according to [81] as  $0.00128D^2 + 6.48D + 459$ , where D is the total demand. As the table suggests, by deploying the real-time pricing technique compared to the day-ahead pricing, the buildings can reduce their cost approximately 5% while the market will face 0.27% reduction in the daily profit, which is quite insignificant. This can be explained by the fact that the real-time pricing only lowers the consumption in high price hours, which does not hurt the supply side due to their savings of expensive fuel during peak

hours.

Finally the impact of buildings on price is studied in Figure 4.9 by comparing the average daily consumption of a sample building at Bus no. 2 for different value of  $\alpha$  in equation (4.2). Increasing  $\alpha$  reduces the impact of buildings on spot price and yields an almost constant price. However, since HVAC units are considered as the only controllable load in system model, the consumption would not increase beyond certain range for  $\alpha \geq 4$ .

### 4.5 Summary

In this chapter, we developed a stochastic differential game model for autonomous demand response when the price of electricity varies during the day. The model explains how end-users can decrease their electricity bill when having dynamic load, where the load dynamics formulated as differential equations. Real-time pricing also gives the aggregartor the opportunity to influence end users load profile through pricing of power. We studied the interaction between the market and buildings using a two-level differential game model. To gain insights, two dynamic states are particularly investigated: the battery's state-of-charge and the room temperature. The HJB equation is used to study the solution of the formulated game among different buildings. As simulation results over two different pricing scenarios show, the proposed method reduces the overall power consumption of all users, by storing the energy when the price is low and by later discharging it when the price is high. The peak-to-average ratio in aggregate load demand as well as overall energy cost are also greatly reduced.



Figure 4.4: Region characteristics at Bus 2.



(b) Indoor Temperature

Figure 4.5: System states for a sample building at Bus 2.



Figure 4.6: Total daily load at Bus 2.



Figure 4.7: Comparison of load PAR for two pricing scenarios.



Figure 4.8: Daily cost vs. outdoor temperature for two pricing scenarios.



Figure 4.9: Impact of buildings power consumption on price.

#### Chapter5

# Distributed Control of HVAC Systems in Smart Buildings

#### 5.1 Introduction

Buildings consume almost 70% of the total electricity generated in the US [83, 84]. One of the major energy-consuming systems of a building is the heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) system. More precisely, an HVAC system might exhaust more than 65% of the total electrical energy consumed by a building [85, 86, 87]. The high energy consumption of HVAC systems raises energy costs as well as environmental concerns. Therefore, a desirable capability of future "smart buildings" is energy reduction via fine-grained control of HVAC systems. For instance, an HVAC system can be conceived as an autonomous system that adjusts the indoor temperature of different locations in the building based on the occupancy [88].

A growing body of research suggests that efficient control of HVAC systems might significantly increase the energy efficiency of future smart-buildings. For instance, in [89], the authors explored the problem of computing optimal control strategies for time-scheduled operation taking into consideration building operation schedules, e.g., night-setback, start-up and occupied modes, as well as a predicted weather profile. In [90], dynamic and real-time simulation models are developed to study the thermal, hydraulic, mechanical, environmental and energy performance of smart buildings. In [91], the authors presented a simulation tool, "QUICK Control", to predict the effect of changing control strategies on indoor comfort and energy consumption.

For occupancy-based control of HVAC systems, a fundamental requirement is a sensor network to capture the occupancy changes in real time. In [92], the authors proposed several control strategies based on real time occupancy monitoring and occupancy predictions.

In this paper, tools from game theory and multi-agent learning are used to design

a cost-efficient distributed control for HVAC systems. This work takes into consideration the electricity cost and predetermined ranges of desirable temperatures during certain periods for all locations in the building that are subject to temperature control. The main game-theoretic tool of this analysis is the notion of a satisfaction equilibrium (SE) [24]. Basically, an SE is an equilibrium concept in which players do not seek any benefit maximization but only the satisfaction of their own individual constraints. This equilibrium is thoroughly studied in the context of the distributed control of HVAC systems. More importantly, a simple algorithm based on the notion of trial-and-error learning [94] that is capable of achieving an SE is also presented.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. Section 5.2 introduces the system model. Section 5.3 describes two games, one in the satisfaction form and another one in the normal form, to model the problem of distributed control of HVAC systems. Therein, a fully distributed learning algorithm is also provided to achieve the equilibria of the corresponding games. Section 5.5 presents some simulation results, and Section 5.6 concludes this work.

### 5.2 System Model

Consider a smart-building with n zones subject to temperature control. Each zone is managed by an HVAC system that is fully independent of all the other HVAC units in the building. The goal is to reduce the electricity cost by dynamically adjusting the operation of the HVAC units such that two main constraints are satisfied: (i) The temperature of a given room i, with  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  must be kept within a desirable range for certain predetermined periods; and (ii) The total power load dedicated for heating, ventilation and air conditioning must not exceed a predetermined threshold.

Consider that temperature is controlled with a granularity of 1 hour. At the beginning of the day, HVAC unit *i* chooses its own daily power consumption vector, denoted by,  $\mathbf{L}_i = (l_i(1), ..., l_i(t), ..., l_i(24))$ , where  $l_i(t)$  denotes the power consumed

by HVAC unit *i* at hour *t*. Each HVAC unit chooses its vector  $\mathbf{L}_i$  from a finite set of vectors denoted by  $\mathcal{L}_i$ . The daily power consumption vector is selected in order to minimize the daily electricity cost

$$\Phi(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{t=1}^{24} \mu_i(l_i(t), p(t)), \qquad (5.1)$$

where  $\mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{L}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{L}_n) \in \mathcal{L}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathcal{L}_n$ ,  $\mathbf{P} = (p(1), \ldots, p(24)) \in \mathcal{R}^{24}$ , with p(t) the hourly market price per energy unit. Note that the vector  $\mathbf{P}$  is assumed to be known by each HVAC unit at the beginning of the day. The function  $\mu_i : \mathcal{L}_i \times \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$  models the operation cost of HVAC *i* with power load  $l_i(t)$  and price  $p_i(t)$ . One example of the function  $\mu_i$  is presented in [95]. Therein, the function  $\mu_i$  is defined as follows:

$$\mu_i(l_i(t), p(t)) = c_1 p(t) l_i(t)^2 + c_2 p(t) l_i(t) + c_3, \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $c_1$ ,  $c_2$  and  $c_3$  are constant parameters that are determined based on experimental data. One of the advantages of a quadratic model for the operation cost of an HVAC unit is that it is more realistic and flexible than other models, e.g., the translog cost model [96].

The total power load allocated for the HVAC system satisfies the following constraint at each 1-hour period t of the day:

$$\forall t \in \{1, \dots, 24\}, \quad \sum_{i=1}^{n} l_i(t) \le L_r,$$
(5.3)

where the threshold value  $L_r$  is imposed by the characteristics of the power distribution feeder/bus of the building. This threshold is assumed to remain the same at each period t.

The temperature  $T_i(t)$  of zone *i* during period *t* must fall within the interval  $[\underline{T}_i^t, \overline{T}_i^t]$ . Note that this control is enforced only during certain periods. Hence, the

set  $\mathcal{I}_i$  denotes the periods over which this rule is enforced, i.e.,

$$\forall t \in \mathcal{I}_i, \quad \underline{T}_i^t \le T_i(t) \le \overline{T}_i^t. \tag{5.4}$$

For all the other periods  $t \in \{1, ..., 24\} \setminus \mathcal{I}_i$  no temperature control is performed. The indoor temperature is predicted up to 24 hours in advance using a simple exponential decay model proposed by [73]. That is,

$$T_{i}(t+1) = \epsilon T_{i}(t) + (1-\epsilon)(T_{OD}(t) - \gamma K l_{i}(t)), \qquad (5.5)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is the thermal time constant of the building;  $\gamma$  is a factor capturing the efficiency of the air conditioning unit to cool the air inside the building;  $T_{OD}$  is the outside temperature which is predicted a day ahead; and K is a conversion factor that is proportional to the performance coefficient of the HVAC unit divided by the total thermal mass. The HVAC unit uses power  $l_i(t)$  to control the temperature of zone *i* during period *t*. In this model, our focus is only on the cooling scenario. The results for a heating scenario can also be easily obtained by changing the sign of  $-\gamma K l_i(t)$ .

Equation (5.5) explains how the constraint (5.4) relates to the power consumed by the HVAC unit. The HVAC control units should select their consumption amounts in a way that the indoor temperature obtained from (5.5) falls within the comfort interval (5.4) and minimize the total cost in (5.1). That is, the vector  $\mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{L}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{L}_n)$ must be chosen such that

$$\min_{\mathbf{L}\in\mathcal{L}_1\times\ldots\times\mathcal{L}_n}\sum_{i=1}^n\sum_{t=1}^{24}\mu_i(l_i(t),p(t)),$$
s.t. 
$$\sum_{i=1}^n l_i(t) \le L_r, \quad \forall t \in \{1,\ldots,24\}, \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{T}_i^t \le T_i(t) \le \overline{T}_i^t, \quad \forall t \in \mathcal{I}_i.$$
(5.6)

The above problem can be solved at the beginning of the day such that the vector

 $\mathbf{L}_{i} = (l_{i}(1), ..., l_{i}(t), ..., l_{i}(24))$  is entirely calculated by HVAC *i* only once per day; or at each period *t*, the HVAC determines its individual load  $l_{i}(t+1)$ . Both alternatives are studied in Section 5.4.

#### 5.3 Game Formulation

The distributed control problem of the HVAC system described above can be modeled via two games formulations: a game in normal form [97] and a game in satisfaction form [24]. The related equilibrium solution are defined accordingly.

### 5.3.1 Game in Normal Form

Consider the game in normal form

$$G = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}, \{\xi_i\}_{\{i \in \mathcal{N}\}}). \tag{5.7}$$

The set  $\mathcal{N} = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  represents set of players. HVAC *i* is represented by player *i*. The set of actions of player *i* is the set of daily power consumption vectors  $\mathcal{L}_i$ . Hence, the set of actions of the game is  $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_1 \times \mathcal{L}_2 \times \ldots \mathcal{L}_n$ . The payoff function  $\xi_i : \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{R}^{24} \to \mathcal{R}$  of player *i* is defined by

$$\xi_i(\mathbf{L}, \mathbf{P}) = \frac{1}{\beta + 1} \left( 1 - \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{24} \mu_i(l_i(t), p(t))}{24\mu_{max}} + \beta \mathbf{1}_{\{\mathbf{L}_i \in f_i(\mathbf{L}_{-i})\}} \right),$$
(5.8)

where  $\beta$  is a design parameter,  $\mu_i$  is defined in (5.2) and  $\mu_{max}$  is the maximum cost user *i* can experience. The correspondence  $f_i : \mathcal{L}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathcal{L}_{i-1} \times \mathcal{L}_{i+1} \times \ldots \times \mathcal{L}_n \to 2^{\mathcal{L}_i}$ is defined as follows:

$$f_{i}(\mathbf{L}_{-i}) = \left\{ \mathbf{L}_{i} \in \mathcal{L}_{i} : \forall t \in \{1, ..., 24\} \right.$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} l_{i}(t) \leq L_{r} \text{ and } \underline{T}_{i}^{t} \leq T_{i}(t) \leq \overline{T}_{i}^{t} \right\}.$$
(5.9)

The payoff function in (5.8) captures the tradeoff between satisfying the individual constraints of player i and minimizing the individual consumption cost. Note that increasing the value of  $\beta$  leads to the player focusing on in the satisfaction of its individual constraints. Alternatively, reducing the value of  $\beta$  leads the player to focus more on the reduction of the individual operating cost. This utility function was first proposed in [26] for the case of decentralized radio resource allocation in wireless networks.

An interesting outcome of the game G is a Nash Equilibrium (NE), which is defined as follows:

**Definition 1.** An action profile  $\mathbf{L}^* \in \mathcal{L}$  of the game (5.7) is an NE if  $\forall i \in \mathcal{N}$  and  $\forall \mathbf{L}'_i \in \mathcal{L}_i$ ,

$$\xi_i(\boldsymbol{L}_i^*, \boldsymbol{L}_{-i}^*, \boldsymbol{P}) \ge \xi_i(\boldsymbol{L}_i', \boldsymbol{L}_{-i}^*, \boldsymbol{P}).$$
 (5.10)

The interest in the NE stems from the fact that at such a state, none of the players can improve its payoff by unilaterally changing its action.

#### 5.3.2 Game in Satisfaction Form

Consider the game in satisfaction form  $\hat{G} = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}, \{f_i\}_{\{i \in \mathcal{N}\}})$ . In the game  $\hat{G}$ , a player is said to be satisfied if it plays an action that satisfies its individual constraints. More importantly, once a player satisfies its individual constraints, it has no interest in changing its action, and thus, an equilibrium is observed when all players are simultaneously satisfied. This equilibrium is often referred to as the satisfaction equilibrium [24].

**Definition 2.** An action profile  $L^+ \in \mathcal{L}$  is a satisfaction equilibrium for the game

 $\hat{G} = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}, \{f_i\}_{\{i \in \mathcal{N}\}})$  if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{N}, \quad \boldsymbol{L}_{i}^{+} \in f_{i}(\boldsymbol{L}_{-i}^{+}).$$
(5.11)

The interest in the SE stems from the fact that at such a state, all players satisfy their individual constraints. However, no optimality can be claimed on the choices of the players with respect to the cost in (5.1).

#### 5.4 The distributed learning algorithm

In this section, a learning algorithm based on a trial-and-error dynamics is proposed to distributively achieve an SE and/or NE.

#### 5.4.1 Trial and Error Learning Algorithm

Player i locally implements a state machine. At iteration s, the state of player i is defined by the triplet

$$Z_i(s) = \{ m_i(s), \bar{\mathbf{L}}_i(s), \bar{\xi}_i(s) \},$$
(5.12)

where  $m_i(s)$  represents the "mood" of player *i*, that is, the way it reacts to the observation of the instantaneous observation  $\tilde{\xi}_i(s)$  of  $\xi_i(\mathbf{L}(s), \mathbf{P})$ , with  $\xi_i$  defined in (5.8) and  $\mathbf{L}(s)$  is the action played at iteration *s*.  $\mathbf{\bar{L}}_i(s) \in \mathcal{L}$  and  $\bar{\xi}_i(s) \in [0; 1]$ represent a benchmark action and a benchmark payoff, respectively. There are two possible moods: content (*C*) and discontent (*D*); and thus,  $m_i(s) \in \{C, D\}$ .

If at iteration s player i is content, it chooses action  $\mathbf{L}_i$  following the probability distribution

$$\pi_{i,\mathbf{L}_{i}} = \begin{cases} \frac{\epsilon^{c}}{|\mathcal{L}_{i}|-1}, & \text{if } \bar{\mathbf{L}}_{i} \ge \mathbf{L}_{i} & \text{and} \\\\ 1 - \epsilon^{c}, & \text{if } \bar{\mathbf{L}}_{i} = \mathbf{L}_{i}, \end{cases}$$

where,  $\pi_{i,\mathbf{L}_{i}} = \Pr(\mathbf{L}_{i}(s) = \mathbf{L}_{i}), c > n$  is a constant and  $\epsilon > 0$  is an experimentation rate. In the following, we use the notation  $X \leftarrow Y$  to indicate that variable X takes the value of variable Y. If player *i* uses its bench-marked action at iteration *s*, i.e,  $\mathbf{L}_{i}(s) = \bar{\mathbf{L}}_{i}$ , and  $\tilde{\xi}_{i}(s+1) = \bar{\xi}_{i}(s)$  then the state  $Z_{i}(s)$  remains the same. Otherwise, it adopts a new bench-marked action and a new benchmark payoff:  $\bar{\mathbf{L}}_{i}(s+1) \leftarrow \tilde{\mathbf{L}}_{i}(s)$ ,  $\bar{\xi}_{i}(s+1) \leftarrow \tilde{\xi}_{i}(s)$ . The mood of player *i* is updated as follows: with probability  $\epsilon^{(1-\tilde{\xi}_{i}(s))}$  it sets its mood to content  $m_{i}(s+1) \leftarrow C$ , and with probability  $1 - \alpha^{(1-\tilde{\xi}_{i}(s))}$ , it sets it to discontent  $m_{i}(s+1) \leftarrow D$ .

#### 5.4.2 Properties

An essential condition for the mentioned learning algorithm to achieve a stochastically stable state is the interdependence property defined as follows [94].

**Definition 3.** (Interdependent game) An n-person game G on the finite action set  $\mathcal{L}$  is interdependent if for every non-empty subset  $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{N}$  and every action profile  $\mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathbf{L}_{-\mathcal{J}}) \in \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}}$  is the action profile of all users in  $\mathcal{J}$ , there exists a player  $i \notin \mathcal{N}$  such that

$$\exists \mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}}^{'} \neq \mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}} : \xi_{i}(\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}}^{'}, \mathbf{L}_{-\mathcal{J}}) \neq \xi_{i}(\mathbf{L}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathbf{L}_{-\mathcal{J}}).$$
(5.13)

In other words, the interdependence condition states that it is not possible to divide the players into two separate subsets that do not interact with each other.

In the following, we assume that game G is interdependent. This is a reasonable assumption, since the power consumption choices of all players affects the set of conditions in (5.3) that all other players should satisfy. The following theorem states that the players' actions at the stochastically stable state of the learning algorithm maximize the social welfare of all players[94].

**Theorem 5.1.** Under the dynamics defined by the mentioned learning algorithm, a

state  $Z = (m, \mathbf{L}, \xi)$ , is stochastically stable if and only if the following conditions are satisfied:

 The action profile L maximizes the social welfare function W : L × R<sup>24</sup> → R, defined as follows:

$$W(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{P}) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \xi_i(\boldsymbol{L}, \boldsymbol{P}).$$
(5.14)

• The mood of each player is content.

The next theorem states that by selecting  $\beta > n$ , the stochastically stable state of the dynamics described above is such that the largest set of players is satisfied.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let each player in the game G implement the learning algorithm described above with utility function  $\xi_i$  and  $\beta > n$ . Then, the action profile with the highest social welfare satisfies the highest number of players.

*Proof.* It is sufficient to show that if  $\mathbf{L}^*$  is an action profile that satisfies  $k^*$  players and  $\mathbf{L}'$  an action profile that satisfies k' players, and  $k^* > k'$ , then  $W(\mathbf{L}^*) > W(\mathbf{L}')$ . We have  $W(\mathbf{L})$  as follows:

$$W(\mathbf{L})\sum_{i\in\mathcal{N}}\frac{1}{\beta+1}\left(1-\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{24}\mu_i(l_i(t),p(t))}{24\mu_{max}}+\beta\mathbf{1}_{\{\mathbf{L}_i\in f_i(\mathbf{L}_{-i})\}}\right),$$
(5.15)

and we also have:

$$0 \le \sum_{i \in \mathcal{N}} \left( 1 - \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{24} \mu_i(l_i(t), p(t))}{24\mu_{max}} \right) \le n.$$
(5.16)

Using the inequality (5.16), and the assumption that  $\mathbf{L}^*$  is an action profile which satisfies  $k^*$  players, we can write  $\frac{\beta k^*}{1+\beta} \leq W(\mathbf{L}^*) \leq \frac{n+\beta k^*}{1+\beta}$ . Similarly using (5.16) and the assumption that  $\mathbf{L}'$  is an action profile which satisfies k' players, we can write  $\frac{\beta k'}{1+\beta} \leq W(\mathbf{L}') \leq \frac{n+\beta k'}{1+\beta}$ . Since  $k^*$ ,  $k' \in \mathbb{N}$ , we can write the assumption  $k' < k^*$  as  $k' \leq k^* - 1$ , which implies  $W(\mathbf{L}') \leq \frac{n+\beta k'-\beta}{1+\beta}$ . Using the assumption that  $\beta > n$ , we can write  $\frac{n+\beta k'-\beta}{1+\beta} < \frac{\beta k'}{1+\beta}$ . Following the set of inequalities, we can state  $W(\mathbf{L}') < \frac{\beta k'}{1+\beta} \leq W(\mathbf{L}^*)$ , which proves  $W(\mathbf{L}^*) > W(\mathbf{L}')$ .

## 5.4.3 Online Scheduling

The day-ahead scheduling method as it is described in Section 5.2 can achieve a satisfaction equilibrium using the distributed learning method in the convergence as is proven in Theorem 2. Due to the constant change of the outdoor temperature and market electricity price, it is more practical that scheduling of HVAC units be performed on a hourly basis instead of a day-ahead one. In this section we explain the details of the hourly scheduling method.

For the hourly scheduling method, each HVAC unit chooses its hourly consumption  $l_i$  from a finite set denoted by  $\mathcal{L}'_i$ . The constrained electricity cost optimization of each zone as defined in (5.6) can be rewritten as follows at time interval t:

$$\min_{\hat{L}\in\mathcal{L}'_i\times\ldots\times\mathcal{L}'_n} \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i(l_i(t), p(t)),$$
s.t. 
$$\sum_{i=1}^n l_i(t) \le L_r, \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{T}^t_i \le T_i(t) \le \bar{T}^t_i,$$
(5.17)

where  $\hat{L}(t) = [l_1(t), \dots, l_n(t)]$ . The game definition for the normal and satisfaction forms change accordingly as follows.

#### 5.4.3.1 Game in Normal Form

The game in normal form is represented by the triplet,  $G = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}', \{\xi_i\}_{\{i \in N\}})$ . Here,  $\mathcal{N} = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  represents the set of players that are HVAC control units of n zones. The action of player i is its hourly power consumption,  $l_i(t)$ , and each player i has a finite set of actions,  $\mathcal{L}'_i$ . The set of actions of the game is the joint set of



Figure 5.1: The occupancy schedule of building zones.

players actions,  $\mathcal{L}' = \mathcal{L}'_1 \times \mathcal{L}'_2 \times \ldots \mathcal{L}'_n$ . We introduce the payoff function of player i,  $\xi'_i : \mathcal{L}' \to \mathcal{R}$  defined by

$$\xi_{i}'(l_{i}(t), \mathbf{L}_{-i}(t)) = \frac{1}{\beta + 1} \left( 1 - \frac{\mu_{i}(l_{i}(t), p(t))}{\mu_{max}} + \beta \mathbf{1}_{\{l_{i}(t) \in f_{i}'(\mathbf{L}_{-i}(t))\}} \right), \quad (5.18)$$

where we define  $f'_i : \mathcal{L}_1 \times \ldots \times \mathcal{L}_{i-1} \times \mathcal{L}_{i+1} \times \ldots \times \mathcal{L}_n \to 2^{\mathcal{L}_i}$  as follows:

$$f'_i(\mathbf{L}_{-i}) = \left\{ l_i \in \mathcal{L}'_i : \sum_{i=1}^n l_i \le L_r, \underline{T}^t_i \le T_i(t) \le \bar{T}^t_i \right\}.$$

#### 5.4.3.2 Game in Satisfaction Form

The game in the satisfaction form is defined by the triple  $\hat{G} = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}', \{f'_i\}_{\{i \in \mathcal{N}\}})$ . Similar to the properties of the distributed learning algorithm for 24-hour scheduling case discussed in Section 5.4.2, the distributed learning algorithm for the online scheduling case achieves the solution with the largest number of satisfied players.

**Theorem 5.3.** Let each player in the game G implement the learning algorithm described above with utility function  $\xi_i$  and  $\beta > n$ . Then, the action profile with the highest social welfare is the solution with the largest number of satisfied users.

The proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 2. In following, we present numerical results to demonstrate the performance of the proposed game.



Figure 5.2: Characteristics of the building.

## 5.5 Simulation Results

In this section, we numerically investigate the performance of the proposed satisfaction game to confirm and complement the results presented in the previous sections. Consider a building divided into three independent zones for the task of temperature control based on occupancy. The occupancy schedule of the building for a 12 hour period is shown in Figure 5.1. In this figure, shaded blocks indicate the time slots during which the corresponding zones in the building are occupied and needed to be conditioned. For the occupied time slots, the lower and upper bound for indoor temperature for all zones are taken to be 67F and 79F, respectively. The outdoor



Figure 5.3: Payoff versus the number of iterations.

temperature and market price are depicted in Figure 5.2(a) and Figure 5.2(b), respectively according to data in [80].

Other simulation parameters are set as  $\epsilon = 0.7$ ,  $\lambda = 0.9$ , K = 15,  $c_1 = c_2 = c_3 = 1$ , B = 100 and  $L_r = 1.5$  KW. The energy consumption of the HVAC units is assumed to be chosen from the set  $\{0, 0.2, 0.4\}$  for both games. First, we compare the payoff of our proposed game in the satisfaction form with its payoff in the normal form and the payoff of the maximum social welfare solution as shown in Figure 5.3. The learning algorithm parameter is set at  $\alpha = 0.05$  and the number of iteration is 10000. The proposed learning algorithm is able to meet the optimal solution for most of the time (stochastically stable state). For the game in normal form, players can achieve NE after a few iterations, and the payoff of players is considerably lower than the maximum spacial welfare.

Figure 5.4 studies the effect of exploration rate ( $\alpha$ ) on the convergence of the game's payoff in satisfaction form to the maximum social welfare. As the figure shows, by decreasing the exploration rate from 0.05 to 0.01, the players tend to stick to their choices. Therefore, the learning algorithm might temporary stabilize at a non-optimal state. On the the other hand by increasing the exploration rate from 0.05 to 0.09, the payoff decreases again. This can be explained since for higher exploration



Figure 5.4: Satisfaction game convergence versus the exploration rate.



Figure 5.5: The payoff versus the average indoor temperature.

rates, players choose their actions more dynamically, and consequently the algorithm might not be stable even if it has converged to the maximum social welfare.

Next we compare the average conditioned indoor temperature during the scheduled time slots for zone 1 versus the achieved payoff for the four cases of day-ahead SE, day-ahead NE, real-time SE and real-time NE in Figure 5.5. Note that the payoff function for 12-hour cases are different from that for the real-time cases. However, the payoff achieved by the game in satisfaction form is higher than that of the game in normal form at the cost of higher average indoor temperature.



Figure 5.6: Payoff versus the number of power levels.

Finally, Figure 5.6 shows by increasing the number of granularity levels of the power consumed by HVAC units, the payoff increases and finally archives the maximum social welfare solution with the continuous action set. Having 9 power levels, the SE has a similar payoff to the maximum social welfare solution, and significantly better payoff compared to the NE payoff.

#### 5.6 Summary

The proposed learning algorithm is able to control the power consumption levels of HVAC units in order to guarantee that the largest number of zones have stochastically stable indoor temperatures which are falling within the predetermined comfort range of users, while incurring the minimum electricity cost. To implement the proposed game in the satisfaction form and the proposed learning algorithm, the HVAC unit of each zone only requires little information from other zones. Simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and show how HVAC control units can reduce the building electricity cost effectively while satisfying the constraints.

#### Chapter6

### **Conclusion and Future Work**

#### 6.1 Conclusion

The smart grid is envisioned to be a large-scale cyber-physical system composed of intelligent nodes that can operate, communicate, and interact autonomously in order to efficiently deliver power to their consumers. The heterogeneous and decentralized nature of the smart grid motivates adoption of game theory for overcoming various design, control, and implementation challenges. In this dissertation, we proposed game theatrical frameworks for distributed dynamic control application in smart grid systems. We summarize the research that has been completed for each of these frameworks in this chapter.

First we studied the problem of optimal distributed generation and storage for thermal and pumped-storage power plants in a smart grid network. We proposed a stochastic differential game approach to model their competition and derived the optimal strategies for both players if the other's action is fixed using HJB equations. We showed that there exists the feedback Nash equilibrium strategies for the proposed game. Simulation results demonstrate the properties of the proposed game and suggest how the two types of power plants need to adjust their generating and storage decision variables to maximize their revenues. It is demonstrated that the proposed framework and games can reduce the peak to average ratio and total energy generation for the thermal plant, which helps power plant operation and reduces CO2 emission.

Next, we considered smart buildings equipped with renewable resources generators, local energy storage and controllable HVAC units, in which users are able to respond to real-time grid conditions like electricity prices and weather conditions in order to minimize their cost. We modeled the strategic interactions between such energy-smart buildings and a Nash-Cournot electricity market using a two-level stochastic differential game framework. At the upper level, the market offers a vector of hourly prices to end users. At the lower level, the energy-smart buildings as the lower level participate in demand response by managing controllable dynamic load in response to hourly prices set by the market. Specifically, two dynamic states in energy-smart buildings are investigated: the battery's state-of-charge and the room temperature. The solution of the formulated game among different buildings is derived by HJB equations. As simulation results show, the proposed method reduces the overall power consumption of all users, by storing the energy when the price is low and by later discharging it when the price is high. The peak-to-average ratio of aggregate load demand as well as overall energy cost is also greatly reduced.

Finally, we focused distributed control of HVAC systems as major consumption units in buildings. The problem of electricity cost efficient scheduling of HVAC units while satisfying predetermined ranges of desirable temperatures during certain periods for multiple zones in the building that are subject to temperature control is taken into consideration. The game-theoretic tool used to analysis this problem is satisfaction equilibrium, in which players do not seek any benefit maximization but only the satisfaction of their own individual constraints. The notion of satisfaction game enables players to make stochastically stable decisions with limited information from the rest of players. To achieve satisfaction equilibrium, a trial-and-error learning is proposed. We showed that this algorithm reaches stochastically stable control decisions that are equilibria and maximizers of the global welfare of the corresponding game. The propertied of proposed game and learning algorithms are studied for both day-ahead and real-time cases through simulation results.

### 6.2 Future Work

This section includes the overview of future research and possible progressions in the studied problems in this dissertation on distributed dynamic control schemes for smart grid networks. We introduce the following topics that can be chosen for further advanced research.

- Design of multi-stage game-theoric frameworks for integration of distributed generation units to smart grids' electricity markets in order to achieve optimal trading prices among competing distributed generation entities as well as optimal generation or storage decisions.
- Incorporation of mean field games [98, 99] for distributed control applications with extremely large number of players such as large number of buildings, PHEV vehicles, and so on in order to avoid the high volume overhead of feedback information which enforce timing delays and data storage costs to the grid. In contrast to N-player games, where each player follows the evolution of the state of the game and the actions taken by all other players in order to maximize a given individual benefit, in the mean field game formulation, every players action is driven by the collective (or mean) behavior of all players and not by the individual actions of each other player. As a main consequence, it is possible in these games to follow the state trajectory of all players at once and to capture the behavior of the players depending only on their initial state and the joint distribution.
- Sensor-driven analysis to obtain full picture of almost every aspect of the buildingŠs states and dynamics for more efficient buildings energy management systems. For example, using infrared sensors to determine whether a space is occupied or not, how much daylight there is, whether the lights are on and what level of lighting they provide would enables design of more efficient lighting control

systems. Integrated data from sensors in electricity and water meters, lighting, HVAC systems, geothermal pumps [100] and other subsystems will provide immediate insight into the overall state of the buildingŠs dynamic systems, as well as design of energy efficient distributed controls.

## Bibliography

- Office of Electricity Delivery and Energy Reliability, "Smart Grid", August 2009, http://www.oe.energy.gov/smartgrid.htm.
- [2] P. E. Marken, J. J. Marczewski, R. D'Aquila, P. Hassink, J. H. Roedel, and R. L. Bodo, "VFT A Smart Transmission Technology That is Compatible With the Existing and Future Grid," In Proceedings of *IEEE/PES Power Systems Conference and Exposition*, *PSCE '09.*, March 2009.
- [3] A. Ipakchi and F. Albuyeh, "Grid of the Future," *IEEE Power and Energy Mag-azine*, vol.7, no.2, pp.52–62, March 2009.
- [4] H. Farhangi, "The Path of the Smart Grid," *IEEE Power Energy Magazine*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 18Ű28, Feb. 2010.
- [5] F. Li, W. Qiao, H. Sun, H. Wan, J. Wang, Y. Xia, Z. Xu, and P. Zhang, "Smart Transmission Grid: Vision and Framework," *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, vol. 1, no. 2, 2010.
- [6] X. Fang, S. Misra, G. Xue, and D. Yang, "Smart Grid The New and Improved Power Grid: A Survey," *IEEE Commun. Surveys Tutorials*, 2012.
- [7] C. Lo and N. Ansari, "The Progressive Smart Grid System from Both Power and Communications Aspects," *IEEE Commun. Surveys Tutorials*, 2012.
- [8] P. Zhang, F. Li, and N. Bhatt, "Next Generation Monitoring, Analysis and Control for The Future Smart Control Center," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 1, no. 2, Sep. 2010.
- [9] J. R. Roncero, "Integration is Key to Smart Grid Management," In Proc. IET-CIRED Seminar SmartGrids Distribution, pp. 1Ű4, June 2008.

- [10] PJM Brochure, "Bringing the Smart Grid Idea Home," 2007.
- [11] B. Heile, "Smart Grids for Green Communications," IEEE Wireless Communications, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 4Ű6, Jun. 2010.
- [12] S. Ramchurn, P. Vytelingum, A. Rogers, and N. R. Jennings, "Agent Based Homeostatic Control for Green Energy in The Smart Grid," ACM Transactions on Intelligent Systems and Technologies, vol. 2, no. 4, Jul. 2011.
- [13] S. Lukovic, I. Kaitovic, M. Mura, and U. Bondi, "Virtual Power Plant as a Bridge Between Distributed Energy Resources and Smart Grid," in proceedings of 43rd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS), Switzerland, January 2010.
- T. F. Garrity, "Getting Smart," *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine*, vol.6, no.2, pp.38–45, March 2009.
- [15] X. Fang, S. Misra, G. Xue, and D. Yang, "Smart Grid The New and Improved Power Grid: A Survey," *IEEE Communications Surveys and Tutorials*, no.99, pp.1–37, 2012.
- [16] http://www.examiner.com/article/the-21st-century-energy-transformation-willbe-an-evolution-not-a-revolution
- [17] H. Doukas, K. Patlitzianas, K. Iatropoulos, and J. Psarras, "Intelligent Building Energy Management System using Rule Sets," *Building Environment*, vol. 42, no. 10, pp. 3562Ű3569, 2007.
- [18] G. Koutitas, "Control of Flexible Smart Devices in The Smart Grid," IEEE Trans. Smart Grids, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 1333Ű1343, 2012.
- [19] S. Davidoff, M. K. Lee, J. Zimmerman, and A. Dey, "Principle of Smart Home Control," *Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*, Springer, pp. 19Ü34. 2006.

- [20] H. Chen, P. Chou, S. Duri, H. Lei, and J. Reason, "The Design and implementation of a Smart Building Control System," *IEEE International Conference on* in e-Business Engineering, ICEBE Š09., pp. 255 Ű262, oct. 2009.
- [21] A. I. Dounis and C. Caraiscos, "Advanced Control Systems Engineering for Energy and Comfort Management in A Building EnvironmentŮA Review," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 13, no. 6/7, pp. 1246Ű1261, Sep. 2009.
- [22] G.J. Levermore, Building Energy Management Systems, London: E & FN Spon; 2000.
- [23] I. Khan, N. Javaid, M. N. Ullah, A. Mahmood, and M. U. Farooq, "A Survey of Home Energy Management Systems in Future Smart Grid Communications," 8th IEEE International Conference on Broadband and Wireless Computing, Communication and Applications (BWCCA'13), Compiegne, France, October 2013.
- [24] S. M. Perlaza, H. Tembine, S. Lasaulce, and M. Debbah, "Satisfaction Equilibrium: A General Framework for QOS Provisioning in Self-Configuring Networks," *In GLOBECOM*, pages 1-5, 2010.
- [25] S. M. Perlaza, H. Tembine, S. Lasaulce, and M. Debbah, "Quality of service provisioning in Decentralized Networks: A Satisfaction Equilibrium Approach," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 104-116, Feb. 2012.
- [26] L. Rose, S. M. Perlaza, C. L. Martret, and M. Debbah, "Achieving Pareto Optimal Equilibria in Energy Efficient Clustered Ad hoc Networks," Proc. of the IEEE Intl. Conference on Communications (ICC), Budapest, Hungary, Jun., 2013.
- [27] S.M. Perlaza, H.V. Poor and Z. Han, "Learning Efficient Satisfaction Equilibria via Trial and Error," Proc. of Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers (ASILOMAR), pp.676–680, Nov. 2012.

- [28] E. Hossain, Z. Han, and H. V. Poor, Smart Grid Communications and Networking, Cambridge University Press, UK, 2012.
- [29] Z. Han, D. Niyato, W. Saad, T. Basar, and A. Hjørungnes, Game Theory in Wireless and Communication Networks: Theory, Models and Applications, Cambridge University Press, UK, 2012.
- [30] W. Saad, Z. Han, H. V. Poor, and T. Basar, "Game-Theoretic Methods for the Smart Grid: An Overview of Microgrid Systems, Demand-Side Management, and Smart Grid Communications," *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, special issue on Signal Processing Techniques for Smart Grid, vol. 29, no. 5, p.p. 86-105, September 2012.
- [31] A. Starr and Y. Ho, "Nonzero-Sum Differential Games," Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 184Ű206, 1969.
- [32] W. van den Broek, J. Engwerda, and J. Schumachar, ŞRobust Equilibria in Indefinite Linear-Quadratic Differential Games, T Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 565Ű595, 2003.
- [33] T. Basar and G. J. Olsder, Dynamic Noncooperative Game Theory, 2nd ed. London, U.K.: Academic, 1995.
- [34] T. Basar and P. Bernhard, H8-Optimal Control and Related Minimax Design Problems, Birkhauser, 1995.
- [35] M. G. Crandall and P.-L. Lions, "Viscosity Solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi Equations," *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 277, no. 1, pp. 1-42, 1983.
- [36] A. D. Polyanin, and F. Z. Valentin, "Handbook of Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations," CRC press, 2003.

- [37] W.H. Fleming, P.E. Souganidis, "On The Existence of Value Functions of Two-Player, Zero-Sum Stochastic Differential Games," *Indiana Univ. Math. J*, no.38, vol. 2, pp. 293Ű314, 1989.
- [38] I. Luna, S. Soares, J. E. G. Lopes, and R. Ballini "Verifying The Use of Evolving Fuzzy Systems for Multi-Step Ahead Daily Inflow Forecasting," 15th International Conference on Intelligent System Applications to Power Systems U ISAP Š09, pages 1Ü6, Brazil, November 2009.
- [39] Z. Yu, F. T. Sparrow, and B. H. Bowen, "A new Long-Term Hydro Production Scheduling Methods for Maximizing The Profit of Hydroelectric Systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, no. 1, vol. 13, pp. 66Ű-71, 1998.
- [40] J. Barquin, E. Centeno, E. Malillos, and J. Roman, "Medium-term Hydro Operation in A Competitive Electricity Market," *IEEE International Conference on Electric power engineering - PowerTech*, Budapest, September 1999.
- [41] B. H. Yu, X. H. Yuan, and J. W. Wang, "Short-Term Hydro-Thermal Scheduling Using Particle Swarm Optimization Method," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 48, no. 7, pp. 1902Ű-1908, July 2007.
- [42] E. Gil, J. Bustos, and H. Rudnick, "Short Term Hydrothermal Generation Scheduling Model Using A Genetic Algorithm," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 1256-Ű1264, November 2003.
- [43] A. Philpott, M. Craddock, and H. Waterer, "Hydro-Electric Unit Commitment Subject to Uncertain Demand," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol.125, pp.410–424, September 2000.
- [44] J. Latorre, S. Cerisola, and A. Ramos, "Clustering Algorithms for Scenario Tree Generation: Application to Natural Hydro Inflows," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol.181, no.3, pp.1339–1353, September 2007.
- [45] R. Kelman, L. A. N. Barroso, and M. V. F. Pereira, "Market Power Assessment and Mitigation in Hydrothermal Systems," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 354Ű-359, August 2001.
- [46] J. Villar and H. Rudnick, "Hydrothermal Market Simulation Using Game Theory: Assessment of Market Power," *IEEE Trans. Power Systems*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 91Ű-98, February 2003.
- [47] C. Ruiz, A. J. Conejo, and R. Arcos, "Some Analytical Results on Conjectural Variation Models for Short-Term Electricity Markets," *IET Gener. Transm. Distrib.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 257Ű-267, Februray 2010.
- [48] J. Tang and P. B. Luh, "Hydrothermal Scheduling via Extended Differential Dynamic Programming and Mixed Coordination," *IEEE Transancations on Power Systems*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 2021-2028, November 1995.
- [49] J. P. Molina, J. M. Zolezzi, J. Contreras, H. Rudnick, and M. J. Reveco, "Nash-Cournot Equilibria in Hydrothermal Electricity Markets," *IEEE Transancations* on Power Systems, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 1089-1101, August 2011.
- [50] S. Soares and T. Ohishi, M. Cicogna, and A. Arce "Dynamic Dispatch of Hydro Generating Units," *IEEE Power Tech Conference Proceedings*, 2003, vol.2, Italy, June 2003.
- [51] C. E. Zoumas, A. G. Bakirtzis, J. B. Theocharis, and V. Petridis, "A Genetic Algorithm Solution Approach to The Hydrothermal Coordination Problem," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 1356âĂŞ1364, May 2004
- [52] M. H. Holmes "Introduction to Perturbation Methods," Texts in Applied Mathematics Springer-Verlag, vol.20, 1995.

- [53] A. Mohsenian-Rad, V. W. S. Wong, J. Jatskevich, R. Schober, and A. Leon-Garcia, "Autonomous Demand-Side Management Based on Game-Theoretic Energy Consumption Scheduling for The Future Smart Grid," *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, vol.1, no.3, p.p.320–331, December 2010.
- [54] R. Buckdahn and J. Li, "Stochastic Differential Games and Viscosity Solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman-Isaacs Equations," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol.1, no.47, p.p.444-Ű475, February 2008.
- [55] J. Yong and X. Y. Zhou, "Stochastic Controls: Hamiltonian Systems and HJB Equations," Springer-Verlag, New York, 1999.
- [56] http://idptv.state.id.us/buildingbig/dams/dworshak.html
- [57] http://currentenergy.lbl.gov/tx/index.php
- [58] M. Liserre, T. Sauter, and J. Y. Hung, "Future Energy Systems: Integrating Renewable Energy Sources into The Smart Power Grid Through Industrial Electronics," *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine*, vol.4, no.1, pp.18-37, March 2010.
- [59] R. Hassan and G. Radman, "Survey on Smart Grid," In Proceedings of IEEE SoutheastCon 2010, March 2010.
- [60] N. Ruiz, I. Cobelo, and J. Oyarzabal, "A Direct Load Control Model for Virtual Power Plant Management," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 24,no. 2, pp. 959–966, May 2009.
- [61] A. Gomes, C. H. Antunes, and A. G. Martins, "A Multiple Objective Approach to Direct Load Control Using an Interactive Evolutionary Algorithm," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 1004-1011, Aug.2007.

- [62] C. M. Chu, T. L. Jong, and Y. W. Huang, "A Direct Load Control of Air-Conditioning Loads with Thermal Comfort Control," In Proceedings of *IEEE PES Gen. Meet.*, San Francisco, CA, June 2005.
- [63] E. Hossain, Z. Han, and V. Poor, Smart Grid Communications and Networking, Cambridge University Press, UK, 2012.
- [64] A. Mohsenian-Rad and A. Leon-Garcia. "Optimal Residential Load Control with Price Prediction in Real-Time Electricity Pricing Environments," *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 120-133, September 2010.
- [65] D. Fudenberg and J. Tirole, *Game Theory. MIT Press*, 1993.
- [66] A. C. Tellidou and A. G. Bakirtzis, "Demand Response in Electricity Markets," In Proc. 15th Int. Conf. Intell. Syst. Appl. Power Syst., pp. 1-6, Curitiba, November 2009.
- [67] Y. Chen, W. S. Lin, F. Han; Y. H. Yang, Z. Safar, K. J. R. Liu, "A cheat-Proof Game Theoretic Demand Response Scheme for Smart Grids," 2012 IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC), pp. 3362-3366, Ottawa, June 2012.
- [68] C. Chen, S. Kishore, W. Zhifang, M. Alizadeh, A. Scaglione, "How Will Demand Response Aggregators Affect Electricity Markets? - A Cournot Game Analysis," 5th International Symposium on Communications Control and Signal Processing (ISCCSP), pp. 1-6, May 2012.
- [69] S. Dave, M. Sooriyabandara, and L.Y. Zhang, "Application of A Game-Theoretic Energy Management Algorithm in A Hybrid Predictive-Adaptive Scenario," 2rd IEEE International Conference on Innovative Smart Grid Technologies, Manchester, December 2011.

- [70] J. Chen, B. Yang, and X. Guan, "Optimal Demand Response Scheduling with Stackelberg Game Approach Under Load Uncertainty for Smart Grid," *IEEE Third International Conference on Smart Grid Communications (SmartGrid-Comm)*, Tainan, Taiwan, pp. 546-551, November 2012.
- [71] A. H. Mohsenian-Rad, V. Wong, J. Jatskevich, R. Schober, and A. Leon-Garcia, "Autonomous Demand-Side Management Based on Game Theoretic Energy Consumption Scheduling for the Future Smart Grid,," *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 320-331, December 2010.
- [72] H. K. Nguyen, J. B. Song, and Z. Han, "Demand Side Management to Reduce Peak-to- Average Ratio Using Game Theory In Smart Grid," *IEEE INFOCOM Workshop on Green Networking and Smart Grids*, March 2012.
- [73] P. Constantopoulos, F. C. Schweppe, R. C. Larson, "ESTIA: A Real-Time Consumer Control Scheme for Space Conditioning Usage under Spot Electricity Pricing," *Computers and Operations Research*, 18(8), 751-765, 1991.
- [74] C. E. Lin and G. L. Viviani," Hierarchical Economic Dispatch for Piecewise Quadratic Cost Functions," *IEEE Trans. Power App. Syst.*, vol.103, no. 6, pp. 1170Ű1175, June 1984.
- [75] N. Li, L. Chen, and S. H. Low, "Optimal Demand Response Based on Utility Maximization in Power Networks," in IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting, July 2011.
- [76] M. G. Crandall, and P. L. Lions, "Viscosity Solutions of Hamilton-Jacobi equations" *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, vol. 277, no. 1, pp. 1-42, May 1983.
- [77] A. I. Subbotin, "Minimax Solutions to The Hamilton Jacobi Equations" Journal of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 103, no. 6, pp. 772-777, March 2001.

- [78] R. D. Zimmerman, C. E. Murillo-Sánchez, and R. J. Thomas, "Steady-State Operations, Planning and Analysis Tools for Power Systems Research and Education," in proceedings of *IEEE Transactions on power systems*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 12–19, Feb. 2011.
- [79] A. Mishra, D. Irwin, P. Shenoy, J. Kurose, and T. Zhu. "SmartCharge: Cutting the Electricity Bill in Smart Homes with Energy Storage," In *eEnergy*, Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Future Energy Systems: Where Energy, Computing and Communication Meet, pp. 21-29, Madrid, May 2012.
- [80] http://www.amigoenergy.com.
- [81] J. H. Park, Y. S. Kim, I. K. Eom, and K. Y. Lee, "Economic Load Dispatch for Piecewise Quadratic Cost Function Using Hopfield Neural Network," *IEEE Transanctions on Power Systems*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 1030-1038, August 1993.
- [82] J.K. Baksalary, O.M. Baksalary, "Particular Formulae for The Moore-Penrose Inverse of A Columnwise Partitioned Matrix," *Linear Algebra and Its Applications* no. 421, pp.16-23, 2007.
- [83] T. Weng and Y. Agarwal, "From Buildings to Smart Buildings Sensing and Actuation to Improve Energy Efficiency," In Proc. of IEEE Design & Test, Special Issue on Green Buildings, vol. 29, pp. 36-44, San Diego, CA, Aug. 2012.
- [84] A.H. Mohsenian-Rad, V. Wong, J. Jatskevich, and R. Schober, "Optimal and Autonomous Incentive-Based Energy Consumption Scheduling Algorithm for Smart Grid," in Proc. Innov. Smart Grid Technol. (ISGT), pp. 1Ű6, Jan. 2010.
- [85] M. Roozbehani, M. Dahleh, and S. Mitter, "Dynamic Pricing and Stabilization of Supply and Demand in Modern Electric Power Grids," in Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Smart Grid Commun. (SmartGridComm), pp. 543Ű548, Oct. 2010.

- [86] D. Han and J. Lim, "Design and Implementation of Smart Home Energy Management Systems Based on ZigBee," *IEEE Trans. on Consumer Electronics*, vol. 56, no. 3, pp. 1417-1425, 2010.
- [87] Z. J. Liu, W. H. Qi, Z. Jia, and P. Huang, "System Integration Control of HVAC in Intelligent Building", in Proc. of Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics, vol. 2, pp. 1125-1128, Shanghai, China, Aug. 2004.
- [88] H. Merz, T. Hansemann, and C. Huebner, Building Automation Communication Systems with EIB/KNX, LON and BACnet, Springer, Germany, 2009.
- [89] M. Zaheer-uddin and G. R. Zheng, "Optimal Control of Time-Scheduled Heating, Ventilating and Air Conditioning Processes in Buildings," *Journal of Energy Conversion & Management*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 49-60, Jan. 2000.
- [90] W. Shengwei and Z. Ling, "Dynamic and Real-Time Simulation of BMS and Airconditioning System as A Living Environment for Learning/Training," *Journal* of Automation in Construction, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 487-505, May 2001.
- [91] E. H. Mathews, D. C. Arndt, and M. F. Geyser, "Reducing the Energy Consumption of a Conference Centre - A Case Study Using Software", *Journal of Building and Environment*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 437-444, Apr. 2002.
- [92] V. Erickson and A. Cerpa, "Occupancy Based Demand Response HVAC Control Action," In Proc. of the 2nd ACM Workshop on Embedded Sensing Systems for Energy-Efficiency in Building (BuildSys 2010), pp 7-10, Switzerland, Nov., 2010.
- [93] S. Wang and Z. Ma, "Supervisory and Optimal Control of Building HVAC Systems: A Review," HVAC&R Research, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 3-32, Jan. 2008.

- [94] J. R. Marden, H. P. Young, and L.Y. Pao, "Achieving Pareto Optimality Through Distributed Learning," Discussion Paper, University of Colorado and University of Oxford, 2011.
- [95] M. Farsi, A. Fetz, and M. Filippini, "Economies of Scale and Scope in Multi-Utilities," *Energy Journal*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 123âĂŞ144, Sep. 2008.
- [96] J. Kwoka, "Electric Power Distribution: Economies of Scale, Mergers and Restructuring," Applied Economics, vol. 37, no. 20, pp. 2373 - 2386, Nov. 2005.
- [97] J. F. Nash, "Equilibrium Points in N-Person Games," Proceedings of The National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 48-49, 1950.
- [98] J. M. Lasry and P. L. Lions, "Mean Field Games" Japanese Journal of Mathematics, vol. 2, pp. 229Ü260, 2007.
- [99] A. Bensoussan, and J. Frehse, "Control and Nash Games With Mean Field Effect" Chinese Annals of Mathematics, nov. 34B, pp. 161Ű192, 2013.
- [100] J. Lund, B. Sanner, L. Rybach, R. Curtis, and G. Hellström " Geothermal(Ground- Source) HeatpumpsŮA World Overview" Geo-Heat Center Quarter Bulletin, no. 25, pp. 1-10, 2004.